
February 22, 2024 Regular Meeting of the KYMEA
Board of Directors

02/22/2024

Board Room at 10 AM

1700 Eastpoint Pkwy Suite 220

Louisville, 40223

This meeting will also be available as a TEAMs video meeting (contact mhixon@kymea.org for
attendee information).



1. Attendance  Michelle Hixon

2. Call to Order  Josh Callihan

AA. . Meeting OpeningMeeting Opening  

BB. . Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of DirectorsPrevious Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors Approval of Last
Month's Meeting
Minutes

Josh Callihan

CC. . Financial ReportsFinancial Reports Approval of Last
Month's Financial
Report

Heather
Overby

1. CEO  Doug Buresh

2. Market Report  Rob Leesman

3. Member Communications  Michelle Hixon

EE. . Administration ReportsAdministration Reports  

1. Meter Data UPS Procedure  Rob Leesman

FF. . Discussion TopicsDiscussion Topics  

1. City of Berea Municipal Utilities Request to Join AR Group Motion to authorize
Doug to enter into an
AR contract with City
of Berea Municipal
Utilities.

Doug Buresh

GG. . Action ItemsAction Items  

3. Guest Introductions  Josh Callihan

DD. . Committee ReportsCommittee Reports
None Expected

 

HH. . Public CommentsPublic Comments
This is an opportunity for members of the public to provide input to the
KYMEA Board and is limited to 5 minutes per speaker.

 Josh Callihan

II. . Upcoming Meetings and Other BusinessUpcoming Meetings and Other Business
The next board meeting will be held on March 28th at 10 am in KYMEA's
board room.

 Michelle Hixon

JJ. . Closed SessionClosed Session  Charlie
Musson

KK. . Action Expected Related to Matters Discussed in Closed SessionAction Expected Related to Matters Discussed in Closed Session  Josh Callihan

LL. . AdjournmentAdjournment  Josh Callihan

Meeting Book - February 22, 2024 Combined Meeting of the AR Project Committee andMeeting Book - February 22, 2024 Combined Meeting of the AR Project Committee and
KYMEA Board of DirectorsKYMEA Board of Directors

AgendaAgenda

Page 2 of 101



 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - January 25, 2024 Comb... | 1 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - January 25, 2024 Combined Meeting of the 

AR Project Committee and KYMEA Board of Directors 

01/25/2024 | 10:00 AM  

Board Room at 10 AM 

Attendees (8) 

Josh Callihan; Butch Hackney; Ron Herd; Kevin Howard; Tim Lyons; Chris Melton; Jamie 

Miller; Gary Zheng 

Additional attendees were Doug Buresh, Rob Leesman, Molly Roesler, Charlie Musson, 

Brad Porter, David Denton, Travis McCullar, Jeff Bayne, Hance Price, Tom Trauger, Anna 

Marie Pavlik Rosen, Jack Snyder, and Jamie Harkins. 

Meeting Opening 

1. Attendance: A quorum of both the Board of Directors and the AR Project 

Committee was noted. 

2. Call to Order  

3. Guest Introductions: Tom Trauger introduced Jeff Bayne with Speigel who will be 

representing KYMEA.  

Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors 

ACTION: Motion to approve the December 13, 2023, Combined Meeting of the AR 

Project Committee and KYMEA Board of Directors minutes was made by Chris Melton 

and seconded by Tim Lyons. The motion passed.   

Financial Reports 

ACTION:  Motion to approve the November and December financial reports was made 

by Kevin Howard and seconded by Ron Herd. The motion passed.   

Committee Reports 

1. AR Project Committee: Chris Melton mentioned that the committee met yesterday and 

will recommend the presented FY2025 AR Rates. 

Administration Reports 

1.  CEO Report: Doug Buresh updated the group on the following. 

Page 3 of 101



 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - January 25, 2024 Comb... | 2 

            a. Ashwood Update 

            b. IRP2023 Timeline 

      2.  Market Report: Rob Leesman discussed the previous month's markets in relation to 

KYMEA. 

      3. Member Communications: The board was updated on upcoming events and member 

activities. 

Discussion Topics 

1. Grid Resilience and Innovation Partnerships (GRIP) Grant: Doug provided an update on 

the GRIP concept paper KYMEA submitted to the Department of Energy (DOE) on 

January 12th.  

AR Project Committee Meeting 

Chairman Melton presented the FY2025 AR Project Rates that the committee 

recommends for Board approval. 

Action Items 

1. FY2025 AR Project Rates 

ACTION: Motion to approve the presented FY2025 AR Project Rates was made by 

Chris Melton and seconded by Kevin Howard. The motion passed.  

Public Comments 

No comments were provided.  

Upcoming Meetings and Other Business 

The next regular board meeting will be held on February 22, 2024, at 10 am in 

KYMEA's board room. 

  

Chairman Callihan announced that this was Chris Melton's last meeting. He will be 

retiring at the end of this month. Josh thanked Chris for the time and expertise he has 

given KYMEA over the past nine years. Chis was presented with an award for his 

dedication and service. 

Closed Session 

ACTION: Motion to enter into closed session was made by Tim Lyons and seconded 

by Ron Herd. The motion passed.  

Page 4 of 101



 

 

Minutes for Meeting Book - January 25, 2024 Comb... | 3 

ACTION: Motion to return to open session was made by Ron Herd and seconded by 

Chris Melton. The motion passed.  

Actions Related to Matters Discussed in Closed Session 

ACTION: Motion to direct Doug to sign the PPA with Hallador as directed in closed 

session was made by Kevin Howard and seconded by Chris Melton. The motion 

passed.  

Adjournment  

ACTION: Motion to adjourn was made by Ron Herd and seconded by Chris Melton. 

The motion passed and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 

 

 

 

X

Chairperson

   

X

Secre ta ry

Page 5 of 101



Financial Presentation
February 22, 2024

Heather Overby
2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 1

Page 6 of 101



Statement of Net Position – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 2

1) Checking and Rate 
Stabilization Fund cash

2) Billing to AR , 
Transmission service 
members

3) Depancaking Reserve 
Funded December 
2023

(1)

(2)
(3)

Page 7 of 101



Statement of Net Position – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 3

4) Collateral represents 
$4.2m at MISO, $2.6m 
at PJM, and $0 in 
hedge collateral.

(4)

Page 8 of 101



Statement of Net Position – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 4

5) AP represents 
purchased power

6) Deferred Liabilities 
represents the present 
value of remaining 
office lease and 
software contract 
payments

7) Line of Credit paid off 
in August 2019

8) Positive net position - 
LTD

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Page 9 of 101



Statement Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position –
January 2024

2/14/2024
www.KYMEA.org

5

9) Sales to AR Members

10) RTO Auction Revenue 
Rights and KYMEA Off-
System Power Sales

11) Sales of transmission 
and ancillary services

12) Transmission from 
MISO, PJM, and KU net 
of depancaking credit

13) All purchased power 
including PPA, RTO, 
and SEPA

14) Positive MTD Net 
Income/ Positive YTD 
Net Income

(9)
(10)
(11)

(12)
(13)

(14)

Page 10 of 101



Indirect Statement of Cash Flows –
January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 6

15) Net Income

16) Timing of Accounts 
Receivable and 
Accounts Payable 
have largest monthly 
effect of operational 
items on cash

17) Cash balance in 
Checking and Rate 
Stabilization Fund.

(15)

(17)

(16)

(16)

Page 11 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 7
Page 12 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 8
Page 13 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2023

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 9

Working Capital Rate Stabilization

Days Cash on Hand Detail

DaysDays

$11.339 Million $7.370 Million

43.38 28.20

Page 14 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2023

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 10

Depancaking Reserve

$13.139 Million

Page 15 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 11
Page 16 of 101



Financial Metrics – January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 12
Page 17 of 101



Jan 2024Jan 2024

Statement of Net Position

FY2024 Actuals as of January 2024

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash And Investments

Other Receivables

Depancaking Reserve & PrePay

Total Current Assets $41,537,213

$13,138,920

$9,689,102

$18,709,190

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Pledge Collateral

Investment In Sedc

Fixed Asset Clearing Account

Office Buildout

Meters - Ar Project

Meter Comm Equipment

General Plant

Construction Work In Progress

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Total Non-Current Assets $10,269,895

($1,478,866)

$0

$3,291,582

$342,230

$215,985

$260,238

$797,448

$4,112

$6,837,166

Total Assets $51,807,108

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Outflows

Total Deferred Outflows $0

$0

Total Assets & Deferred Outflows of Resources $51,807,108

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable

Accrued Interest Payable

Total Current Liabilities $9,994,369

$14,375

$9,979,994

Accrued Employee Benefits

Deferred Liabilities

Line Of Credit

Total Non-Current Liabilities $2,146,203

$0

$1,907,970

$238,233

Total Liabilities $12,140,572

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Inflows

Total Deferred Inflows $0

$0

Total Liabilities & Deferred Inflows $12,140,572

NET POSITION

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt

Restricted

Unrestricted $29,400,753

$6,837,166

$3,428,617

Total Net Position $39,666,536

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position
FY2024 Actuals as of January 2024

OPERATING REVENUE

Sales To Members

Rto Market Revenue

Transmission Services

Miscellaneous Revenue

Total Operating Revenue $60,250,306

$0

$742,707

$6,014,775

$53,492,824

$9,640,413

$0

$183,528

$1,147,755

$8,309,131

OPERATING EXPENSES

Transmission

Production

Administrative And General

Depreciation Expense

Total Purchase Power and Operating Expenses $49,572,448

$288,562

$1,488,455

$41,355,892

$6,439,540

$8,271,792

$41,223

$264,087

$6,931,025

$1,035,458

Operating Income $10,677,858$1,368,621

NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Interest Expense On Debt

Interest Income

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense)

Regulatory Credit/Debit - Cost To Be Recovered

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) $927,472

$0

($36,911)

$1,040,195

($75,812)

$158,283

$0

($7,771)

$176,806

($10,752)

NET POSITION CHANGES

Change in Net Position $11,605,330$1,526,904

Net Position at Beginning of Period

Net Position at End of Period $39,666,536

$38,139,632

$39,666,536

$28,061,206

Indirect Statement of Cash Flows
FY2024 Actuals as of January 2024

CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income

Depreciation Monthly

Accounts Receivable

Depancaking Reserve & PrePay

Accounts Payable

Taxes & Interest Accrued

Other Current Liabilities

Deferred Liabilities

Deferred Inflows Monthly $0

($8,335)

$4,888

$3,929

$986,084

($413,180)

($1,884,734)

$41,223

$1,526,904

$0

($56,017)

$25,465

$1,557

$525,106

($13,138,920)

$7,803,970

$288,562

$11,605,330

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operations $256,779 $7,055,052

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to Plant Monthly

Net Change in Other Prop & Invest ($1,008,685)

($69,895)

($2,048,898)

($472,998)

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing ($1,078,579) ($2,521,896)

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long Term Borrowings

Net Cash Provided By (Used in) Financing $0

$0

$0

$0

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH & TEMP INVESTMENTS

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Temp Investm.. $4,533,157($821,800)

Cash & Temp Investment Beginning of Period

Cash & Investments End of Period $18,709,190

$19,530,990

$18,709,190

$14,176,034

Month Ending
1/31/2024 115959 PM

Jan 2024 YTD FY2024YTD FY2024

Page 18 of 101



KYMEA President & CEO Report
Doug Buresh

February 22, 2024
2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 1
KYMEA_Board_Presentation_February_2024_CEO_02-22-2024.pptx Page 19 of 101



AGENDA

• Ashwood Update
• IRP2023 Timeline

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 2
Page 20 of 101



Ashwood Site Plan

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 3
Page 21 of 101



Switchyard Construction

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 4

Flyover Date: December 5, 2023 View from Church looking North

Page 22 of 101



161kV Switchyard Interconnection

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 5

Flyover Date: December 5, 2023 View from East looking toward Church

Page 23 of 101



Switchyard Completed

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 6

Site Visit Date: February 7, 2024

Page 24 of 101



Transformer

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 7

Site Visit Date: February 7, 2024

The Transformer is now in the U.S. This is a picture of the 
transformer being transported to a storage facility in 
Tennessee using a heavy haul trailer.

Page 25 of 101



Substation

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 8

Site Visit Date: February 7, 2024

The 34.5 kV / 161 kV Substation is located south of the 
Switchyard on the south side of the Site near the church.

The Transformer is scheduled to be at the Site sometime in 
April.

Page 26 of 101



Panels, Inverters, Other Materials

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 9

Site Visit Date: February 7, 2024

Panel deliveries are expected to begin in April.  The deliveries 
will be just-in-time (JIT), so the panels are installed shortly 
after they arrive at the Site.

The laydown area is on the northwest side of the Site.

Page 27 of 101



AGENDA

• Ashwood Update
• IRP2023 Timeline

2/20/2024 www.KYMEA.org 10
Page 28 of 101



IRP2023 Decision Timeline

2/20/2024 11

Date Meeting Decision/Action

March Evaluate RICE EPC RFP Responses

April 11 Special Board Meeting If Board selects RICE Project
• Authorize CEO signing of RICE equipment and Engineering, 

Procurement & Construction (EPC) contracts
• AR Project and Board votes to add RICE PPA to Schedule B 

after contracts are signed

April 25 Regular Board Meeting Authorize issuance of bonds to finance project

June 30 Publish IRP2023

www.KYMEA.org

Subject to Change

Page 29 of 101



January 2024Market Report
Rob Leesman

February 22, 2024
2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 1
KYMEA_Board_Presentation_January_2024_Market_Report_02-22-2024.pptx Page 30 of 101



https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/temp-and-precip/us-maps/

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 2
Page 31 of 101

https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/temp-and-precip/us-maps/


Degree Days

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 3
Page 32 of 101



AR Load January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 4
Page 33 of 101



Non-AR Load January 2024

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 5
Page 34 of 101



January 2024 Snapshot

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 6

Member

Budget 
Energy 
(MWh)

Actual 
Energy 
(MWh)

Actual vs. 
Budget 
Energy

Budget 
NCP 
(MW)

Actual 
NCP 
(MW)

Actual 
vs. 

Budget 
NCP Timestamp (HE EST)

Barbourville 8,782       9,132       104% 18.35 21.38 116% 1/17/2024 9:00:00 AM
Bardwell 772          799          104% 1.49 1.59 107% 1/16/2024 8:00:00 PM
Benham 861          932          108% 2.32 2.81 121% 1/17/2024 9:00:00 AM
Berea 13,305      13,880      104% 30.28 34.95 115% 1/21/2024 8:00:00 AM
Corbin 8,060       8,415       104% 16.41 17.90 109% 1/21/2024 9:00:00 AM
Falmouth 1,670       1,697       102% 3.13 3.16 101% 1/17/2024 10:00:00 AM
Frankfort 60,662      66,901      110% 118.13 135.01 114% 1/17/2024 9:00:00 AM
Madisonville 24,675      23,154      94% 42.63 42.55 100% 1/17/2024 10:00:00 AM
Owensboro 61,882      65,138      105% 107.00 114.00 107%
Paris 6,785       6,557       97% 14.65 14.72 100% 1/21/2024 9:00:00 AM
Providence 2,743       2,832       103% 5.27 5.52 105% 1/16/2024 9:00:00 PM
AR 114,149    119,487    105% 220.06 241.82 110%
Non-AR 14,166      14,813      105% 32.60 37.77 116%
All 128,315    134,300    105% 252.65 279.59 111%
Total 190,197    199,438    105% 359.65 393.59 109%

Jan-24

Page 35 of 101



BREC PPA Load Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 7
Page 36 of 101



BREC PPA PFR Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 8
Page 37 of 101



BREC PPA Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 9
Page 38 of 101



BREC Option Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 10
Page 39 of 101



DEI PPA Load Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 11
Page 40 of 101



DEI PPA PFR Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 12
Page 41 of 101



DEI Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 13
Page 42 of 101



PPS PPA Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 14
Page 43 of 101



SEPA Capacity Factor FY 24

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 15
Page 44 of 101



KYMEA AR Energy Mix

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 16
Page 45 of 101



Working Gas in Storage (1-5-2024)

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 17
Page 46 of 101



Natural Gas Spot Prices

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 18
Page 47 of 101



Total Rig Count

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 19
Page 48 of 101



Indiana Hub ATC

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 20
Page 49 of 101



Texas Eastern Transmission East Louisiana Zone

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 21
Page 50 of 101



Texas Eastern Transmission East Louisiana Zone

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 22
Page 51 of 101



Historical Pricing

2/14/2024 www.KYMEA.org 23
Page 52 of 101



Member Communications

2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 1

Michelle Hixon

February 22, 2024

KYMEA_Board_Presentation_February_2024_Member_Communications_02-22-2024.pptx Page 53 of 101



Dates to Remember

2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 2

March
13th at 1 PM Cybersecurity Awareness Training
28th at 8:30 AM BROC Committee
28th at 10 AM Combined Meeting of the AR Project 

Committee and KYMEA Board

April
25th at 10 AM Combined Meeting of the AR Project 

Committee and KYMEA Board

Page 54 of 101



Cybersecurity Awareness Training

2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 3

When? March 13, 2024, at 1 pm eastern 
time
Where? KYMEA, 1700 Eastpoint Parkway 
Ste. 220, Louisville, KY 40223
How long? 1 hour
Will I receive an education certificate? 
Yes, they will be emailed to attendees.

Please register your team by sending an 
email with the list of attendees to 
mhixon@kymea.org.

Page 55 of 101

mailto:mhixon@kymea.org


Annual Members Conference

2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 4

When? May 30, 2024, at 9 am eastern time
Where? Hilton Garden Inn Louisville Airport, 2735 Crittenden Dr, Louisville, KY 40209
Will I receive an education certificate? Yes, they will be emailed to attendees for all 
sessions attended.

We will be sending an email with registration information soon.

Page 56 of 101



KYMEA UPS Procedure
Rob Leesman

February 16, 2024
2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 1
KYMEA_UPS_Procedure.pptx Page 57 of 101



UPS Procedure

2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 2

• Previously, KYMEA’s Power Monitoring Expert (PME) system was unable to 
decipher the difference between legitimate power outages or 
communication outages.

•  To remedy this, KYMEA and P&D Engineering devised a plan to install 
Uninterruptible Power Supplies (UPS) systems at each member’s substation 
locations.

• The UPS systems allow PME to read a true 0MW value when substations 
are deenergized.  The UPS systems hold enough charge to transmit this 
value back to both PME servers in Louisville and Carmel.

• Once these batteries deplete to a certain level, they trip themselves via a 
breaker to protect the batteries in the UPS systems.

• Unfortunately, these breakers need to be manually reset to power up the 
meters once substations are reenergized.

• P&D Engineering is working on a hopeful automated solution.  The picture 
below shows a UPS cabinet as well as the location of the breaker (bottom 
left).

Page 58 of 101



2/21/2024 www.KYMEA.org 3

UPS 
Cabinet

Breaker

Page 59 of 101



Page 60 of 101



Page 61 of 101



Page 62 of 101



RESOLUTION

WHEREAS,  the  Kentucky  Municipal  Energy  Agency  (“KYMEA”)  and  its  All
Requirements Project Committee  (the “AR Project Committee”) has  received  from  the City of
Berea, Kentucky (“Berea”) a request to become a KYMEA All Requirements Member and to enter
into an All Requirements Power Sales Contract  (the “AR Contract”) for  the purpose of setting
forth  the  terms  and  conditions  relating  to  the  proposed  sale  of  electric  power  and  energy
requirements by KYMEA to Berea as it does with all of KYMEA’s All Requirements Members;
and 

WHEREAS, the AR Project Committee has review Berea’s request;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:

The All Requirements Project Committee recommends that KYMEA accept Berea as an
All Requirements Member with the sale by KYMEA of electric power and energy requirements to
Berea to commence on May 1, 2024. 

Page 63 of 101



RESOLUTION

WHEREAS,  the  Kentucky  Municipal  Energy  Agency  (“KYMEA”)  and  its  All
Requirements Project Committee  (the “AR Project Committee”) has  received  from  the City of
Berea, Kentucky (“Berea”) a request to become a KYMEA All Requirements Member and to enter
into an All Requirements Power Sales Contract in substantially final form and attached hereto (the
“AR Contract”) for the purpose of setting forth the terms and conditions relating to the proposed
sale  of  electric  power  and  energy  requirements  by  KYMEA  to  Berea  as  it  does  with  all  of
KYMEA’s All Requirements Members; and 

WHEREAS, the AR Project Committee recommends that KYMEA accept Berea as an All
Requirements Member effective as of  the date of  this Resolution with  the sale by KYMEA of
electric power and energy requirements to commence on May 1, 2024; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:

Section 1. Approval and Authorization of Execution of the AR Contract with Berea.
Per the request of Berea and the recommendation of the AR Project Committee, KYMEA shall
enter into the AR Contract with Berea, subject to such minor changes, changes of dates, insertions
or  deletions  as may  be  approved  by  the President  and CEO of KYMEA,  such  approval  to  be
conclusively evidenced by the execution of said documents, in order to effectuate the purposes of
this Resolution; and the President and CEO is hereby authorized to execute and acknowledge same
for and on behalf of KYMEA.  

Section 2. KYMEA Officers to Take Any Other Necessary Action.   Pursuant to the
Constitution  and Laws of  the Commonwealth  of Kentucky,  the President  and CEO,  the Chief
Financial Officer,  the Chairman,  the ViceChairman,  the Treasurer,  the Secretary and all other
appropriate officials of KYMEA are hereby authorized and directed to take any and all further
actions and to execute and deliver all other documents as may be reasonably necessary to effect the
purpose  of  this  Resolution  and  the  execution  and  delivery  of  the  Berea  AR  Contract  for  the
purpose of supplying Berea with electric power and energy as it may require. 

Page 64 of 101



KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY

ALL REQUIREMENTS POWER SALES CONTRACT

This All Requirements Power Sales Contract (“Contract”) entered into as of the ____ day
of February, 2024, between KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY, a  joint public
agency  established  and  existing  pursuant  to  the  laws  of  the Commonwealth  of Kentucky  (the
“Agency”),  and  the CITY  OF  BEREA,  KENTUCKY  (the  “Member”)  (each  a  “Party”  and
together, the “Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS,  the  Agency  was  organized  pursuant  to  Sections  65.210  to  65.300  of  the
Kentucky  Revised  Statutes,  as  amended,  known  as  the  "Interlocal  Cooperation Act"  and  was
created  by  virtue  of  the  Interlocal  Cooperation  Agreement  Creating  the  Kentucky Municipal
Energy Agency by and among municipal electric systems in the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the
“Interlocal Cooperation Agreement”), which Interlocal Cooperation Agreement was filed with and
approved by the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Kentucky in accordance with law; and

WHEREAS, the purposes of the Agency include allowing its member municipal electric
systems to effectively collaborate to do all things necessary to serve the current and future electric
power and energy requirements of the Agency’s members and to otherwise provide assistance to
the Agency’s members related to their electric power and energy utility systems; and

WHEREAS,  the Agency  is empowered (i)  to enter  into contracts or agreements for  the
purchase,  sale,  tolling,  exchange,  interchange, wheeling,  pooling,  transmission,  distribution  or
storage of electrical capacity, energy, and other related attributes from any source, and fuel or any
rights thereto, within and without the Commonwealth of Kentucky; (ii) to plan, finance, acquire,
construct, purchase, manage, operate, transmit the output of, maintain, use, share the cost of, own,
lease, sell or dispose of any electric power supply project or projects and any and all facilities,
including  all  equipment,  structures, machinery,  and  tangible  and  intangible  property,  real  and
personal, for the generation or transmission of electrical energy, or both, including any fuel supply
or source or acquisition of fuel or facilities for the production, transportation, handling, utilization
and storage of fuel, either by itself or with other electric utilities or groups of utilities, within or
without the Commonwealth of Kentucky; (iii) to make and execute contracts and other instruments
necessary or convenient in the exercise of the powers and functions of the Agency, and (iv) to do a
ll acts and things necessary, convenient or desirable to carry out the purposes of, and to exercise th
e powers granted to, the Agency; and

WHEREAS, the Member owns and operates a municipal electric utility, which furnishes r
etail  electric  service  to  the  public  and  is  authorized  under  the  laws  of  the Commonwealth  of
Kentucky to contract to purchase from the Agency power and energy and related services; and

WHEREAS,  in order  to  secure an adequate,  reliable  and economical  supply of  electric
power and energy for the Member's municipal electric utility, the Agency and the Member have
determined that the Agency will sell to the Member, and the Member will purchase from the A
gency, power and energy and related services on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

Page 65 of 101



 2 

WHEREAS, the Agency intends to acquire power and energy for sale and delivery to the
Member  and other members  contracting with  the Agency  therefor  through  appropriate means,
which may include the purchase thereof from any source; the purchase of transmission and related
ancillary and coordination services; and the ownership of generation and transmission facilities or
any interest therein or output therefrom; and

WHEREAS, in order to enable the Agency to pay the cost of acquiring and constructing su
ch generation, transmission or other resources and facilities as are useful in meeting its obligations
hereunder and to issue revenue bonds, it is necessary for the Agency to have binding contracts with
the Member and each of the other All Requirements Members (as defined herein) providing for the
equitable sharing of the resulting benefits, risks, and costs, and to be able to pledge the payments
required to be made under such contracts as security for meeting the obligations of the Agency;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements
herein contained, it is agreed by and between the Parties hereto as follows:

SECTION 1.  Definitions

Agency means the Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency, as identified in the first paragraph
of this Contract.

Agency  Obligation  means  each  obligation  of  the  Agency  related  to  the  Agency’s
performance  of  its  duties  under  this  Contract,  including  financial,  power  supply,  fuel  supply,
energy scheduling, energy integration, and energy delivery obligations; power purchase and other
contracts;  and  obligations  related  to MemberOwned  Resources,  Generation  Resource  Project
resources,  financial  transmission  rights,  financial  hedging  instruments,  and  Agencyowned
generating or transmission facilities.

All Requirements Members means the Member and those members of the Agency that ar
e, or hereafter become, parties to All Requirements Power Sales Contracts (as defined herein).

All Requirements Power Sales Contracts means this Contract and the other substantially
similar contracts providing for the sale of power and energy by the Agency to All Requirements M
embers, as amended from time to time, provided that it shall not include any such contract which
expressly provides that it is not to be considered an All Requirements Power Sales Contract.

All  Requirements Power  Supply  Resources  means  those  resources,  including  power
purchase  agreements  and  Generation  Resource  Projects,  for  the  acquisition,  production,  or
delivery of electric power and energy and related Attributes included in the System to the extent
the same are employed by the Agency to supply electric power and energy and related Attributes
sold or utilized under the All Requirements Power Sales Contracts.  For the avoidance of doubt,
All Requirements Power Supply may include renewable generation resources.

All  Requirements  Project  or  AR  Project  means  the  project  to  be  designated  and
authorized  by  resolution  of  the  Agency  pursuant  to  Article  II,  Section  4  of  the  Interlocal
Cooperation Agreement in accordance with Section 16 of this Contract.

Page 66 of 101



 3 

All  Requirements  Project  Committee  or AR  Project  Committee  means  the  project
management  committee  for  the  All  Requirements  Project  established  pursuant  to  Article  III,
Section 4 of the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement and Section 16 of this Contract.

Attributes means, with respect to a generation resource, all aspects of the resource or its
output from which value may be derived, including electric capacity, energy, ancillary services,
energy storage, and environmental characteristics.

Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of the Agency.

Bond Resolution means any one or more resolutions, trust agreements, loan agreements or
other similar instruments providing for the issuance of Bonds.

Bonds  means  electric  utility  revenue  bonds,  notes,  or  other  evidences  of  indebtedness,
without regard to the term thereof, whether or not any issue of such Bonds shall be subordinated as
to payment to any other issue of Bonds, from time to time issued by the Agency to finance any
cost, expense or liability paid or incurred or to be paid or incurred by the Agency in connection
with the investigating, studying, planning, engineering, designing, financing, installing, construct
ing, acquiring, operating, maintaining, retiring, decommissioning, or disposing of any part of the
System or otherwise paid or incurred or to be paid or incurred by the Agency in connection with
the performance of its obligations under the All Requirements Power Sales Contracts or for any
other lawful purpose permitted under the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for the System.

Contract  means  this  All  Requirements  Power  Sales  Contract,  as  defined  in  the  first
paragraph of this Contract.

Generation Resource Project  Participation Agreement means an agreement between
the Agency and those of its members participating in a Generation Resource Project governing
their respective rights, duties, and obligations associated with the Generation Resource Project.

Generation  Resource  Project  means  a  project  designated  by  the  Board  of  Directors
pursuant  to Article II, Section 4 of  the Interlocal Cooperation Agreement for  the development,
construction, acquisition, or purchase of Attributes of an electric generation resource in which one
or  more  All  Requirements  Members  participate.    For  purposes  of  this  Contract,  Generation
Resource Project  refers  to  projects  in which  either  the participants  are not  identical  to  the All
Requirements Members  or  each  participant’s  share  of  the  project  is  prescribed,  or  both,  thus
requiring that the Agency account for the costs and benefits of the project as provided in Section
3(e).    For  avoidance  of  doubt,  a Generation Resource  Project may  be  a  renewable  generation
resource project.  Generation Resource Project does not include (a) Agency generation resource
projects  that  are  for  the benefit of  all  of  the All Requirements Members  and  in which  the All
Requirements Members share costs in proportions that vary over time through the cost recovery
mechanism of the Rate Schedule, or (b) a project for which it is expressly provided that it is not to
be considered a Generation Resource Project.

Governing Body means the city council, city commission, city utilities commission, plant
board, electric plant board, or other legislative body of the Member, as applicable, that has the
authority to approve this Contract and its execution and delivery on behalf of the Member.

Page 67 of 101



 4 

Integrated Utility System has the meaning set forth in Section 5(a).

Interlocal Cooperation Act means Sections 65.210 to 65.300 of the Kentucky Revised
Statutes (“KRS”), as it may be amended from time to time.

Interlocal Cooperation Agreement has the meaning set forth in the first recital of this
Contract.

Member means the municipality or municipal electric system identified as “Member” in
the first paragraph of this Contract.

Member-Owned Resource has the meaning set forth in Section 3(d).  For avoidance of
doubt, MemberOwned Resources may include renewable generation resources.

MISO means the Midcontinent Independent System Operator, Inc. or its successor.

NERC means the North American Electric Reliability Corporation or its successor.

Open Access  Transmission  Tariff means  the  tariff(s)  of  the Transmission Provider(s)
under which electric transmission and related services are provided, as they may be amended from
time to time.

Point of Delivery means any point at which the Agency shall be required to deliver power
and energy to the Member as set forth in paragraph 2 of Schedule A hereto, as amended from time
to time.

Point of Measurement means any point at which the Agency shall be required to meter p
ower and energy delivered to the Member as set forth in paragraph 3 of Schedule A hereto, as ame
nded from time to time.  Paragraph 3 of Schedule A shall include as a Point of Measurement the po
int  of  interconnection  between  any  generating  facility  connected  to  the Member’s  distribution
system and the Member's distribution system.

Prudent Utility Practice means, at a particular time, any of the practices, methods, and
acts (including the practices, methods, and acts engaged in or approved by a significant portion of t
he electrical utility industry prior thereto) which, in the exercise of reasonable judgment in the light
of the facts known at the time the decision was made, would have been expected to accomplish the
desired result at a reasonable cost consistent with good business practices, reliability, safety, and
timeliness.  Prudent Utility Practice is not intended to be limited to the optimum practice, method,
or act, to the exclusion of all others, but rather to be a spectrum of possible practices, methods or ac
ts.

PURPA means  the  federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, as amended
from time to time.

Rate Schedule means the rate schedule setting forth the rate for payments by the Member
for electric power and energy delivered hereunder and for services related to the All Requirements
Project, which may be  revised  from  time  to  time by  a new  schedule  adopted by  the Board of
Directors,  including  any  amendment,  change,  deletion,  or  addition  to  any  of  the  billing

Page 68 of 101



 5 

components, terms or conditions, or any adjustment set forth therein as may be adopted pursuant to
Section 5.   The Rate Schedule may include surcharges or credits applicable only to certain All
Requirements Members, such as (i) to provide compensation for a MemberOwned Resource, (ii)
to reflect the cost consequences of any agreement pursuant to Section 3(f) whereby one or more
All Requirements Members rely to a lesser or greater than proportional extent on the Attributes of
particular All Requirements Power Supply Resources  to serve  their  respective  loads, or  (iii)  to
reflect the cost consequences of a Generation Resource Project Participation Agreement allocating
the  Attributes  of  a  generation  project  to  one  or  more  of  the  All  Requirements  Members  in
accordance with Section 3(e).

Resource  Obligation means  the Member’s  allocable  share  of  each Agency Obligation
entered into for the benefit of the All Requirements Members for which the Agency will remain
obligated after the effective date of termination of this Contract, as determined in accordance with
Section  12.    To  qualify  as  a  Resource Obligation  under  this  Contract,  the  associated Agency
Obligation (a) must have been entered into by the Agency (i) before the Member has delivered to
the Agency written notice of termination of this Contract, or (ii) in the case of Contract termination
arising out of an Event of Default, before the occurrence of the Event of Default; and (b) must not
be  subject  to  automatic  reduction  or  abatement  commensurate  with  loss  of  All  Requirements
Members.

Resource  Obligation  Table  means  the  table  listing  certain  Agency  Obligations  as
described in Section 12(e) and attached as Schedule B, as updated from time to time. 

Revenue Requirements means the portion reasonably and equitably allocable, consistent
with  generally  accepted  ratemaking  principles  and  Prudent  Utility  Practice,  to  the  All
Requirements Project of all costs and expenses paid or incurred or to be paid or incurred by the
Agency  resulting  from  the  ownership,  operation,  maintenance,  termination,  retirement  from
service,  and  decommissioning  of;  repairs,  renewals,  replacements,  additions,  improvements,
betterments, and modifications to; and performance by the Agency of its obligations related to; the
System or otherwise relating to the acquisition and sale of power and energy and transmission and
other services or to the performance by the Agency of its obligations under the All Requirements
Power Sales Contracts, as further described in Section 5(c).

Service Term means the period commencing on May 1, 2024 and extending through the
term of this Contract.

System means all of the Agency’s properties, rights, and interests in properties, including
contract  rights  for  the  purchase  or  acquisition  of  power  and  energy  and  other  Attributes  and
transmission or other services from others, all electric production, transmission, delivery facilities,
general plant, and other related facilities and any mine, well, pipeline, plant, structure, or other fac
ility for the development, production, manufacture, storage, fabrication, or processing of fuel of
any kind or any facility or rights with respect to the supply of water, in each case for use, in whole
or in major part, in any of the Agency's generating plants, now existing and hereafter acquired by l
ease, contract, purchase, or otherwise or constructed by the Agency, including any interest or parti
cipation of the Agency in any such facilities, together with all additions, betterments, extensions, a
nd improvements to said system or any part thereof hereafter made and together with all lands, ea
sements, and rights of way of the Agency and all other works, property, or structures of the Agency

Page 69 of 101



 6 

and rights to the use of any thereof or the output, products, or services therefrom or other contract r
ights, and other tangible and intangible assets of the Agency used or useful in connection with or re
lated to said system.

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing  definition  of  the  term System,  such  term  shall  not  include  any
properties or interests in properties of the Agency which the Agency determines shall not constit
ute a part of the System for the purposes of this Contract.

Transmission  Provider  means  Louisville  Gas  and  Electric  Company  (“LG&E”)  and
Kentucky  Utilities  Company  (“KU,”  together,  “LG&E/KU”),  the  public  utility  operating
companies that jointly own the transmission system to which the Member is electrically connected,
or any successor owner of that transmission system or entity to which the use and control of that
transmission system has been dedicated.  For a Member indirectly connected to the LG&E/KU
transmission system over the transmission facilities of a third party, the definition of Transmission
Provider shall include that third party.

Uncontrollable Force means any cause beyond the control of the Party affected, including
failure of facilities, flood, earthquake, storm, lightning, fire, explosion, epidemic, pestilence, war,
riot, an act of domestic or international terrorism, civil disturbance, labor disturbances, sabotage,
or  an  act  of  civil  or  military  authorities,  including  court  orders,  injunctions,  or  orders  of
governmental agencies with proper jurisdiction, which by due diligence and foresight such Party
could not reasonably have been expected to avoid.

SECTION 2.  Term and Termination

This Contract shall become effective as of the date first entered above.  The Contract shall
remain in effect until terminated in accordance with this Section 2.

This Contract may be terminated:

(a) by the Member effective on May 31, 2029, or on any subsequent May 31st
(or, if the last day of the MISO resource planning year changes to a different
date, effective on such revised date)  thereafter, upon the Member having
given  at  least  five  (5)  years’  prior  written  notice  to  the  Agency  in
accordance with Section 29 of the Contract, provided that the Member shall
remain  responsible  for  any  Resource  Obligations,  as  determined  in
accordance with Section 12;

(b) by the Member at such time that all Bonds shall have been paid or provision
for  such  payment  shall  have  been  made  therefor  pursuant  to  any  Bond
Resolution and all contractual obligations entered into by the Agency for
the  generation,  purchase,  transmission  or  transformation  of  power  and
energy have been terminated and provision has been made for the payment
of any residual costs thereof; or

(c) upon the occurrence of an Event of Default in accordance with Section 12.

In no event shall the term of this Contract exceed the maximum term permitted by law.

Page 70 of 101



 7 

SECTION 3.  Sale and Purchase of Electricity

(a) The  Agency  hereby  agrees  to  sell  and  deliver  to  the  Member,  and  the
Member hereby agrees to purchase and receive from the Agency, during the
Service Term all electric power and energy required to serve the loads of the
Member’s  retail  customers  and  municipal  loads  and  to  operate  the
Member’s municipal electric system, all in accordance with the provisions
of this Contract.

(b) The Agency and the Member agree, in furtherance of the purposes of this
Contract, to submit a request to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
for waiver of the Member’s purchase obligations under the Public Utility R
egulatory  Policies  Act  of  1978  (“PURPA”)  and  for  approval  of  the
Agency’s  undertaking  of  such  PURPA  purchase  obligations,  all  for  the
period of the Service Term.  The Agency shall be responsible for filing the
request and taking such actions as  it deems reasonable  to obtain FERC’s
approval thereof.  The Agency’s costs of preparing and making such filing
and other activities in connection with FERC proceedings to obtain or retain
such approvals shall be included in the Revenue Requirements hereunder or
otherwise  equitably  assessed  to  the  All  Requirements  Members.    Each
PURPA purchase made by the Agency in an All Requirements Member’s
stead pursuant  to  the FERC waiver  shall  be  an All Requirements Power
Supply Resource.

In the event that the requested waiver is not granted or if, pursuant to other p
rovisions of law, the Member is required to purchase electric power from a s
mall power production facility, a cogeneration facility or any other facility,
the Member shall promptly notify the Agency, and the Member and the A
gency shall use their best efforts to arrange for such purchases to be made b
y the Agency.  If such arrangements cannot be made, then the Member shall
make the required purchases and sell the power purchased to the Agency at
a price equal to the price paid by the Member.  The Member appoints the A
gency to act as its agent in all dealings with the owner of any such facility fr
om which power is to be purchased and in connection with all other matters
relating to such purchases.

(c) The Member hereby commits itself to take and pay for all of the electric p
ower and energy which it is required to purchase and receive under Section
3(a) and which is made available to the Member hereunder at its Point(s) of
Delivery, such payments to be made at rates set forth in the Rate Schedule,
as revised from time to time by the Board of Directors.

(d) If  requested  by  the  Member,  the  Parties  shall  cooperate  in  seeking  to
develop a mutually beneficial agreement for the use by the Agency of the
Attributes  of  any  Memberowned  generation  resources  or  other
entitlements the Member may have to generation resource Attributes (each
a “MemberOwned Resource”), provided that any entitlement the Member

Page 71 of 101



 8 

may have to the Attributes of a Generation Resource Project resource shall
not be considered a MemberOwned Resource.  Under any such agreement,
the Agency will integrate and schedule Attributes from the MemberOwned
Resource  in accordance with  the Agency’s standard procedures  for other
All  Requirements  Power  Supply  Resources.    Payments  or  credits  to  the
Member for the Attributes of a MemberOwned Resource shall not exceed
their value to the Agency, as specified in the agreement and as measured by
the  Agency’s  actual  or  estimated  net  avoided  costs  resulting  from  the
Agency’s use of the resource or, if the Agency markets the Attributes, the
actual or estimated net revenues received by the Agency for the Attributes
less  a  reasonable  allowance  for  the  cost  of  administration.    Any  such
agreement  and  quantification  of  the  Agency’s  net  avoided  costs  or
anticipated net revenues shall take into consideration the characteristics of
the MemberOwned Resource and other relevant factors, including the term
of the agreement, which may be of any mutually agreedupon duration.  The
costs of owning and operating the MemberOwned Resource shall remain
the  exclusive  responsibility  of  the  Member  and  therefore  shall  not  be
included  in  the  Agency’s  Revenue  Requirements.    MemberOwned
Resources shall not be used to serve the Member’s load directly or to reduce
the Member’s billing demands under this Contract.

(e) If  the  Member  has  or  acquires  an  entitlement  to  the  Attributes  of  a
Generation Resource Project resource, it may direct the Agency to include
the entitlement as an All Requirements Power Supply Resource.   Unless
otherwise  agreed,  the Agency will  integrate  and  schedule  the Attributes
associated with each such entitlement of the Member in accordance with the
Agency’s  standard procedures  for other All Requirements Power Supply
Resources.  All net benefits attributable to each such entitlement included as
an All Requirements Power Supply Resource shall be accounted for by the
Agency  and  shall  redound  to  the  Member,  such  as  by  crediting  the
entitlement as having supplied a portion of the Member’s load obligations
or  by  passing  through  to  the  Member  the  revenues  or  cost  savings
associated  with  its  use,  less  a  reasonable  allowance  for  the  cost  of
administration.   The Member shall be responsible for all costs associated
with  each  such  entitlement,  consistent  with  the  provisions  of  any
Generation  Resource  Project  Participation  Agreement,  and  including  all
costs, if any, of holding harmless those All Requirements Members that are
not  participants  in  the  Generation  Resource  Project  from  any  adverse
economic consequences to them resulting from inclusion of the Generation
Resource Project entitlement  in  the portfolio of All Requirements Power
Supply Resources.  To the extent  costs related to a Generation Resource
Project  resource  are  included  in  the  Revenue  Requirements,  those  costs
shall  be  separately  accounted  for  and  charged  exclusively  to  the  All
Requirements Members participating in that Generation Resource Project
through the Rate Schedule.

Page 72 of 101



 9 

(f) Except  for All  Requirements  Power  Supply Resources  that  are Member
entitlements  to Attributes  of  Generation  Resource  Project  resources,  the
Parties intend that the capacity and energy output of each All Requirements
Power  Supply  Resource  shall  serve  the  load  of  each  All  Requirements
Member in proportion to the Member’s load in order to facilitate efficient
power  supply  planning  and  implementation.    Notwithstanding  the
foregoing, in the event that one or more All Requirements Members request
and  the  Board  of  Directors  agrees  that  certain  of  the  All  Requirements
Power Supply Resources shall be used to serve those Members’ respective
loads to a greater or lesser than proportional extent, the Rate Schedule and
resulting  rates  and  charges  to  those  Members  and  the  other  All
Requirements Members  shall  reflect  the  cost  consequences of  each  such
agreement.

(g) Nothing  in  this  contract  shall  interfere  with  a  Member’s  authority  to
implement demand response, net metering, or energy efficiency programs.
The Member shall coordinate with the Agency prior to implementing any
proposed demand response or net metering program, and all such programs
shall be subject to review by the All Requirements Project Committee in the
interest  of  achieving  consistency  of  such  programs  and  avoiding  cross
subsidization  among  the  All  Requirements  Members  to  the  extent
practicable.  Any ability by the Member to directly control and reduce load
on the Member’s electric system shall be addressed through an agreement
between  the  Agency  and  the  Member  for  compensation  as  a  Member
Owned  Resource  pursuant  to  Section  3(d).    The  activation  of  any  such
direct load control shall be coordinated with the Agency for the benefit of
the All  Requirements  Project  as  a whole,  rather  than  being  used  by  the
Member to reduce its individual billing demands under this Contract.

(h) Except as expressly permitted in this Contract (including the provisions for
MemberOwned  Resources,  Generation  Resource  Projects,  and  net
metering),  the  Member  shall  not  buy  power  from  any  other  source  or
operate  (or  allow  operation  of)  any  electrical  generator(s)  on  its  system
during the Service Term.  The Member may, during the Service Term, buy
power  from  any  other  source  or  operate  (or  allow  operation  of)  any
electrical generator(s) (other than a MemberOwned Resource for which an
agreement  has  been  reached  pursuant  to  Section 3(d)  or  a  Generation
Resource  Project  resource  entitlement  that  is  included  as  an  All
Requirements Power Supply Resource) only in the event of, and only to the
extent  of,  (i)  the  failure  or  inability  of  the  Agency  to  deliver  power
hereunder, (ii) the Member’s inability to receive deliveries from the Agency
due to outage conditions on the Member’s side of the Point of Delivery, (iii)
periodic  testing  of  emergency  generators  to  ensure  that  they  will  be
available  to  the  Member  when  needed,  or  (iv)  a  legal  requirement  to
purchase  power  pursuant  to  (A)  a  state  or  federal  renewable  portfolio
standard  that  imposes  greater  demands  on  the Member  than  can  be met
through  the  All  Requirements  Power  Supply  Resources,  (B)  a  state  or

Page 73 of 101



 10 

federal net metering standard that imposes requirements on the Member, or
(C) PURPA, but only to the extent that FERC has not granted waiver of the
Member’s PURPA purchase obligation as anticipated pursuant to Section
3(b).

(i) Notwithstanding  any  provision  in  this  Agreement  to  the  contrary,  the
Member has advised the Agency and the Agency has acknowledged that the
Member  has  entered  into  discussions with Berea College  as  to  the  joint
development  of  a  renewable  energy  project  for  the  Member,  and  the
Agency agrees that the Member may utilize and receive energy directly for
the benefit of Berea College and the Member’s other customers from the
project, if developed, or that the Member may declare the project to be a
MemberOwned Resource or subject to the Member’s net metering rules.  

SECTION 4. Electric Characteristics, Points of Delivery and 
Measurement

(a) Electricity  to  be  furnished  hereunder  shall  be  three  phase,  sixty  hertz
alternating  current.    The Member  shall  be  responsible  for  arranging  and
paying  for  all  connections  between  the  system  of  the  Member  and  the
system of the Transmission Provider at the Points of Delivery.  The Points
of Delivery, the Points of Measurement and the delivery voltage shall be as
set forth in Schedule A attached hereto, which Schedule may be amended
from  time  to  time  to  include  such other Point  or Points  of Delivery  and
Point or Points of Measurement and delivery voltage as may be agreed upon
by the Agency and the Member.  Other provisions of Schedule A may be
amended  from  time  to  time  by  the  Agency  in  accordance  with  Prudent
Utility Practice.

(b) The  Member  shall  install,  own,  and  maintain  any  necessary  substation
equipment  at  the Points of Delivery  and  shall  install, own,  and maintain
switching  and  protective  equipment  of  adequate  design  and  sufficient
capacity  on  the Member's  side  of  such  Points  of Delivery  to  enable  the
Member to take and use the power and energy supplied under this Contract
without hazard to the facilities of the Transmission Provider.

(c) The Agency shall not be responsible for the transmission, control, use, or
application  of  power  and  energy  provided  under  this  Contract  on  the
Member's side of the Point of Delivery.

(d) The Member shall not be responsible for the transmission, control, use, or
application  of  power  and  energy  provided  under  this  Contract  on  the
Agency's side of the Point of Delivery, but the Member shall be responsible
for its share of the Agency’s costs of obtaining or providing such functions
in accordance with the terms of this Contract, including the passthrough of
all costs the Agency incurs pursuant to the Transmission Provider’s Open
Access Transmission Tariff attributable to service to the Member.

Page 74 of 101



 11 

(e) When electricity is measured at more than one Point of Measurement, the
maximum  total  coincident  demand  of  the  Member's  system  shall  be
determined by combining the recorded demand at each Point of Measure
ment during the same billing demand measurement interval as specified in
the Rate Schedule.   Measurement of  the Member’s demand to determine
responsibility for the costs of transmission and ancillary services shall be
performed  in  accordance with  the Transmission Provider’s Open Access
Transmission Tariff.

(f) If  the  Point  of Measurement  is  not  located  at  the  Point  of Delivery,  the
measured  amounts  of  demand  and  energy  will  be  adjusted  for  billing
purposes to reflect any electrical losses in accordance with Prudent Utility
Practice.  The measured amounts of demand and energy for billing purposes
shall also be adjusted, where applicable, to include amounts the Member is
required  to  purchase  from  the  Agency,  but  which  were  not  physically
delivered  by  the Agency  at  the  Point(s)  of Delivery  due  to  output  from
MemberOwned Resources or PURPA or other  resources  located behind
the Member’s Point(s) of Delivery, all as adjusted for losses in accordance
with Prudent Utility Practice.

SECTION 5.  Rates

(a) The Member shall pay the Agency for all electric power and energy furnish
ed at the Point(s) of Delivery hereunder and for all services related to the
All Requirements Project at the rates and on the terms and conditions set
forth in the Rate Schedule.  The Board of Directors may revise and place in
to effect new Rate Schedules from time to time.  The Member agrees to pay
the rates and charges set forth in each revised Rate Schedule from the effecti
ve date established by the Board of Directors for such Rate Schedule.  In the
event that, during any portion of any billing period, electric power is made a
vailable to the Member by the Agency in accordance with this Contract whi
ch the Member is required to take and receive pursuant to Section 3 hereof,
but which the Member fails to take and receive for any reason other than an
inability due to an Uncontrollable Force, the Member shall pay the Agency
for such availability in an amount equal to the product of the applicable dem
and charge(s) in the Rate Schedule and the billing demand computed as pro
vided in the Rate Schedule except that, for such purpose, the kilowatts of de
mand for such billing period shall be based upon the kilowatts that would h
ave otherwise been taken as evidenced by the total electric power consumed
by the Member's retail customers during the billing period.  Payments made
by the Member under the Rate Schedule shall be treated as an operating ex
pense from the revenues of the Member's electric utility system, or other In
tegrated Utility System of the Member of which the Member's electric utilit
y system may be a part, to the extent permitted by law, and from other funds
of such system legally available therefor and shall be in addition to and not
in substitution for any other payments whether on account of dues or otherw
ise owed by the Member to the Agency.  The obligation of the Member to

Page 75 of 101



 12 

make  payments  under  the  Rate  Schedule  shall  not  constitute  a  general
obligation of the Member, and the Member shall not be required to make
such payments from any source other than the revenues and funds referred
to in the next preceding sentence.  The obligation of the Member to make
payments under  the Rate Schedule  shall not be  subject  to any  reduction,
whether by offset, counterclaim, recoupment or otherwise, and shall not be
otherwise conditioned upon the performance by the Agency under this or
any  other  agreement  or  instrument;  provided,  however,  that  nothing
contained herein shall be construed to prevent or restrict the Member from
asserting  any  rights  which  it  may  have  against  the  Agency  under  this
Contract or under any provision of  law,  including  the  institution of  legal
proceedings for specific performance or recovery of damages.

The Member's  electric  utility  system  shall  be  deemed  to  be  a  part  of  an
Integrated Utility System for purposes of Sections 5(a) and 7(a) hereof if the
revenues of the electric utility system (i) are commingled with the revenues
of  one  or  more  other  utility  systems  owned  by  the Member,  or  (ii)  are
utilized to pay operating expenses of the Member's electric utility system
and one or more other utility systems owned by  the Member, or (iii) are
pledged to secure bonds issued to finance one or more other utility systems
owned  by  the  Member.    For  purposes  of  this  paragraph,  the  term
“commingled” shall not be deemed to include the keeping of funds in one
bank account so long as such funds are separately accounted for on the b
ooks and records of the Member.

(b) The Board of Directors shall establish and maintain rates in the Rate Sched
ule hereunder and under the other All Requirements Power Sales Contracts
that will provide revenues which are sufficient, but only sufficient, to meet t
he  anticipated Revenue Requirements of  the Agency.   The Agency  staff
shall  assist  the  All  Requirements  Project  Committee  in  developing  and
designing  the  rates  in  the  Rate  Schedule  in  accordance  with  generally
accepted ratemaking principles and procedures to provide revenues to meet
the anticipated Revenue Requirements, and the Board of Directors shall not
unreasonably withhold its approval and establishment of rates so developed
by the AR Project Committee.  The ratemaking methods used by the Board
of Directors to establish rates and charges for all products and services the
Agency provides  to  its members  shall be  consistent with Prudent Utility
Practice.

(c) Revenue Requirements include the following items of cost and offsetting
revenues,  in  each  case  in  amounts  properly  allocable  to  the AR  Project
(which, as to certain items, may be 100% of the costs or revenues):

(i) the cost incurred under power purchase agreements for All
Requirements Power Supply Resources;

Page 76 of 101



 13 

(ii) the  cost  of  other  electric  power  and  energy  and  other
Attributes  purchased by  the Agency  and  the  cost  of  transmitting,
integrating,  scheduling,  dispatching,  and  related  services  for
delivery of, electric power and energy and other Attributes to the All
Requirements Members;

(iii) the  cost  of  risk management  programs,  such  as  fuel  price
hedging,  derivative  product  payments,  and  financial  transmission
rights;

(iv) payments of  principal  and  interest  and  associated  costs  of
notes or other evidences of indebtedness of the Agency, including
lines of credit;

(v) the  administrative  and  general  costs  of  the  Agency,
including the costs of insurance;

(vi) the  cost  of  operating  and  maintaining  the  System  and  of
acquiring,  producing,  integrating,  scheduling,  dispatching,
marketing, and delivering power and energy and other Attributes t
herefrom (including fuel costs, administrative and general expenses
and working capital, for fuel or otherwise, and taxes or payments in
lieu thereof) not included in the costs specified in the other items of
this  definition  and  the  cost  of  power  supply  planning  and
implementation associated with meeting the Agency's power supply
obligations;

(vii) amounts which the Agency may be required to pay for the pr
evention or correction of any loss or damage or for renewals, repl
acements,  repairs,  additions,  improvements,  betterments,  and mo
difications which are necessary to keep any facility of the System in
good operating condition or to prevent a loss of revenues therefrom;

(viii) payments of principal of and premium, if any, and interest
on all Bonds issued by the Agency and payments which the Agency
is required to make into any debt service reserve fund or account u
nder the terms of any Bond Resolution or other contract with holder
s of Bonds;

(ix) amounts required under any Bond Resolution to be paid or
deposited into any fund or account established by such Bond Resol
ution  (other  than  funds  and  accounts  referred  to  in  clause  (viii)
above), including any amounts required to be paid or deposited by
reason of the transfer of monies from such funds or accounts to the f
unds or accounts referred to in clause (viii) above;

(x) all  costs  incurred  or  associated  with  the  salvage,
discontinuance,  decommissioning,  and  disposition  or  sale  of

Page 77 of 101



 14 

properties;

(xi) all costs and expenses relating to injury and damage claims
required to be paid by the Agency;

(xii) any  reserves,  provision  for  rate  stabilization  funds,  and
working capital the Agency shall determine to be necessary for the
payment of those items of costs and expenses referred to in clauses
(i)  through  (xi)  above  to  the  extent  not  already  included  in  such
clauses; and

(xiii) additional amounts that must be realized by the Agency in
order to meet the requirement of any rate covenant with respect to co
verage of principal of and interest on Bonds contained in any Bond
Resolution  or  contract with  holders  of Bonds  or  that  the Agency
deems advisable to enhance creditworthiness for the negotiating of
power supply contracts or the marketing of its Bonds; and

(xiv) any  other  costs  reasonably  incurred  by  the  Agency
consistent  with  Prudent  Utility  Practice  in  support  of  the  All
Requirements Project;

(xv) less (i.e., offset by) revenues received by the Agency from
sources other than payments to the Agency by the All Requirements
Members pursuant to the All Requirements Power Sales Contracts.

(d) In connection with any revision of the Rate Schedule, the Agency shall
cause a notice in writing to be given to each All Requirements Member,
which shall set out any proposed revision of the Rate Schedule with the e
ffective date thereof, which shall be not less than sixty days after the date
of delivery of the notice, and which shall be accompanied by an analysis
of the anticipated Revenue Requirements that the new Rate Schedule is
designed to recover and the derivation of the new rates.  Routine changes
in the level of an approved rate element that tracks specific costs, such as
an energy cost adjustment factor, purchased power adjustment factor, or
similar charge, shall not require submission of the analysis of estimated
Revenue Requirements, but the derivation of any such charge shall be
made available to the All Requirements Members.

SECTION 6.  Covenants of the Agency

(a) In performing its duties under this Contract, the Agency’s goal will be to
minimize the costs of reliably serving the All Requirements Members’
collective  requirements,  to  the  extent  feasible  within  practical
limitations  and  equitable  considerations,  and  in  all  cases  subject  to
Section 24(b).

Page 78 of 101



 15 

(b) The  Agency  shall  coordinate  with  the  All  Requirements  Project
Committee in identifying and acquiring All Requirements Power Supply
Resources  involving  commitments  of  one  (1)  year  or  longer,  subject,
however, to the obligation of the Agency to maintain the financial health
of  the  Agency  and  to  comply  with  any  Bond  Resolution  and  other
contractual,  regulatory,  or  legal  requirements.    To  achieve  longterm
economic benefits, the Agency’s power supply planning horizon shall be
at  least  ten  (10) years, and  the Parties anticipate  that  the Agency will
enter  into power  supplyrelated commitments both  shorter  and  longer
than the notice of termination period specified in Section 2(a).

(c) The Agency shall use commercially reasonable efforts to market, under
economically  advantageous  terms  and  conditions,  electric  power  and
energy and other Attributes that, in the sole judgment of the Agency, can
be sold without adversely affecting performance by the Agency under t
his  Contract  or  resulting  in  the  breach  of  any  Agency  covenant  or
contract.

(d) The Agency shall use its best efforts in accordance with Prudent Utility
Practice to provide a constant and uninterrupted supply of electric power
and energy under this Contract.  

(e) In addition to the delivery of power and energy pursuant to this Contract
and the performance of all acts and actions incident thereto, the Agency
agrees that it will perform, or cause to be performed through thirdparty
providers, services, including: (i) coordinating and monitoring the investi
gating, studying, planning, engineering, designing, financing, installing,
constructing, acquiring, operating, maintaining, retiring, decommissionin
g, or disposing of any part of the System; (ii) issuing and selling Bonds;
(iii) planning, undertaking, coordinating, and monitoring the economic
dispatching and scheduling of power and energy to the All Requirements
Members;  (iv)  reviewing  and  paying  of  invoices  related  to  the  AR
Project;  (v)  complying  with  all  NERC  standards  applicable  to  the
Agency; and (vi) providing such other services as the All Requirements
Members  may  request  and  the  Board  of  Directors  determines  to  be
feasible and appropriate.

SECTION 7. Covenants of the Member

(a) The Member agrees to establish, maintain, and collect rates for electric
power and energy to its consumers that will provide to the Member rev
enues sufficient to meet its obligations to the Agency under this Contract;
to pay all other operating expenses; to pay all obligations, whether now
outstanding  or  incurred  in  the  future,  payable  from,  or  constituting  a
charge or lien on, the net revenues of its electric system; and to make any
other  payments  required  by  Kentucky  law;  and,  at  the  option  of  the
Member, to provide any additional revenues permitted under Kentucky
law.    The  Member  agrees  to  use  its  best  efforts  to  take  all  actions

Page 79 of 101



 16 

necessary or convenient to fulfill its obligations under this Section 7(a),
including making  timely applications for  rate  increases and processing
such applications with diligence.   The Member agrees  to comply with
reasonable  liquidity  requirements  as may  be  adopted  by  the Board  of
Directors  from  time  to  time  to  support  the  creditworthiness  of  the
Agency.    The Agency  shall,  upon  request  of  the Member,  perform or
cause  to be performed studies of  the Member’s  revenues and potential
methods of ensuring the Member’s ability to satisfy this obligation.  If
such study is requested and performed, the Agency may charge and the
Member  shall  pay  all  actual  costs  incurred  in  the  development  and
delivery of the study.

The Member further covenants and agrees that if it maintains or establishes
an  Integrated Utility System of which  its electric  system  is a part  for  its
electric,  water,  gas,  cable  television,  telephone,  broadband,  and  sanitary
sewer systems (or any combination of two or more thereof which includes
its electric system), it will establish, maintain, and collect rates and charges
for the services provided by its Integrated Utility System that will produce r
evenues at least sufficient to enable the Member to pay all expenses attribu
table to the Integrated Utility System, including the expenses incurred in the
operation and maintenance of the Integrated Utility System (including the o
bligations under this Contract); to pay the debt service requirements on any
bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness, whether now outstanding
or incurred in the future, secured by such revenues and issued to finance
improvements to the Integrated Utility System; and to make any other paym
ents required by law.

(b) The Member shall not sell at wholesale any of the electric power and ener
gy delivered to it hereunder to any customer of the Member or any other
entity for resale by that customer or entity.

(c) The  Member  shall  not  sell,  lease  or  otherwise  dispose  of  all  or
substantially all of its electric system except on ninety (90) days’ prior wri
tten  notice  to  the Agency  and,  in  any  event,  shall  not  so  sell,  lease  or
otherwise dispose of the same unless the following conditions are met: (i)
the Member shall assign this Contract and its rights and interest hereunder
to the purchaser or lessee of the electric system and such purchaser or les
see shall assume all obligations of the Member under this Contract; (ii) if
and to the extent necessary to reflect such assignment and assumption, the
Agency  and  such  purchaser  or  lessee  shall  enter  into  an  agreement  su
pplemental  to  this  Contract  to  clarify  the  terms  on  which  power  and
energy are to be sold hereunder by the Agency to such purchaser or lessee;
(iii) the senior debt of such purchaser or lessee shall be rated in one of the
four highest whole rating categories by at least one nationallyrecognized
bond  rating  agency;  (iv)  the Agency  shall  have  received  an  opinion of
counsel of recognized standing in  the field of  law relating to municipal
bonds  selected  by  the  Agency  stating  that  such  sale,  lease  or  other
disposition will not adversely affect the value of this Contract as security

Page 80 of 101



 17 

for the payment of Bonds and the interest thereon or jeopardize the tax
exempt status of the interest on any Bond or Bonds the Agency has issued
or may issue in the future as that status is governed by Section 103(a) of
the  Internal  Revenue  Code  of  1954,  as  amended,  and  the  Treasury
Regulations  or  any  rulings  promulgated  thereunder  or  as  affected  by  a
decision  of  any  court  of  competent  jurisdiction;  (v)  opinions  shall  be
obtained from the respective counsel of assignee and the Agency that the
assignment is lawfully permitted under Kentucky law; and (vi) the rates to
be paid by  the assignee,  if a utility as defined by KRS § 278.010, have
been  approved  by  the  Kentucky  Public  Service  Commission  or  its
successor.  In the event that the Member sells or leases its electric system
in violation of  this Section 7(c),  it  shall be  liable  to  the Agency  for all
resulting unavoidable costs owed by the Agency, including the Member’s
allocable share of all remaining fixed costs and musttake or minimum
take energy costs.

(d) The Member covenants and agrees that it shall take no action the effect of
which would be to prevent, hinder or delay the Agency from the timely ful
fillment of its obligations under this Contract, any outstanding Bonds, or a
ny Bond Resolution of the Agency.

(e) The Member covenants and agrees that it shall not use or permit to be used
any of the power and energy acquired under this Contract in any manner
or for any purpose or take any other action or omit to take any action whic
h would result in the loss of the taxexempt status of the interest on any
Bond or Bonds issued by the Agency as that status is governed by Section
103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and the Treas
ury Regulations or any rulings promulgated thereunder or as affected by a
decision of any court of competent jurisdiction.  The Member covenants
that, prior to entering into any contract that could result in a violation of
the covenant  in  this Section 7(e) whereby a person agrees  to take, or  to
take or pay for, power and energy provided to the Member under this Co
ntract, the Member shall notify the Agency of its intent to enter into such
contract.  As soon as practicable after receipt of such notice, the Agency
shall advise the Member as to whether, in the opinion of counsel of recogn
ized standing in the field of law relating to municipal bonds selected by the
Agency, the entering into of such contract would result in a violation of t
he covenant contained in this Section 7(e).  The Member agrees that if the
Agency advises the Member that such a violation will or might result, the
Member will not enter into such contract.

(f) The Member covenants and agrees that it shall, in accordance with Pruden
t  Utility  Practice,  (1)  at  all  times  operate  the  properties  of  its  electric
system and the business in connection therewith in an efficient manner,
(2)  maintain  its  electric  system  in  good  repair,  working  order,  and
condition, (3) comply with all NERC standards applicable to the Member,
and (4) from time to time make all necessary and proper repairs, renewals,
replacements, obligations, additions, betterments, and improvements with

Page 81 of 101



 18 

respect to its electric system so that at all times the business carried on in
connection  therewith  shall  be  properly  and  advantageously  conducted;
provided, however, this covenant shall not be construed as requiring the
Member to expend any funds which are derived from sources other than t
he operation of its electric system and provided further that nothing herein
shall be construed as preventing the Member from doing so.

(g) The Member covenants and agrees that it shall not issue bonds, notes or
other  evidences  of  indebtedness  or  incur  lease  obligations  which  are
payable from the revenues derived from its electric system superior to the
payment  of  the  operating  expenses  of  its  electric  system;  provided,
however,  that nothing herein shall  limit  the Member's present or  future
right  to  issue  bonds,  notes  or  other  evidences  of  indebtedness  or  incur
lease obligations which are payable on a parity with operating expenses or
payable from revenues after payment of operating expenses.

SECTION 8.  Authorities

(a) The Agency is hereby authorized by the Member (i) to enter into contracts
and  to  undertake  projects  from  time  to  time  in  accordance  with
recommendations  by  the  All  Requirements  Project  Committee,  and  the
Board of Directors  shall not unreasonably withhold  its approval, pursuit,
and  implementation  of  such  contracts  and  projects;  (ii)  to  act  as  the
Member’s agent  (A)  to serve as a market participant,  (B)  to procure and
administer  transmission  and  other  services  related  to  providing  all
requirements  electric  service,  and  (C)  to  act  on  the Member’s  behalf  in
performing  the  Agency’s  duties  under  this  Contract;  and  (iii)  to  obtain
financing consistent with Prudent Utility Practice  to meet  liquidity needs
and working  capital  requirements  of  the All Requirements Project.   The
Agency is authorized by the Member to issue Bonds in accordance with any
applicable provisions of the Interlocal Cooperation Act; provided that the
Member  shall  not  be  responsible  for  the  payment  of  any  share  of  the
principal of, premium, if any, interest on, or any other costs related to Bonds
issued by the Agency to finance the procurement of an All Requirements
Power Supply Resource unless approved and authorized in writing by the
Member’s  Governing  Body  and  any  other  governmental  entity  that  is
required by law to grant its approval or authorization; and provided further
that if the Member does not obtain such approval or authorization, it shall
not be entitled to share in the Attributes of the resource being financed, and
the  rates  and  charges  to  the Member  under  the  Rate  Schedule  shall  be
adjusted as necessary to reflect any additional costs incurred by the Agency
in serving the Member’s load from any necessary alternative resources, and
the Member shall hold harmless  the Agency and those All Requirements
Members  who  did  obtain  such  approval  or  authorization  from  any
additional  costs  incurred  by  the  Agency  resulting  from  such  alternative
power supply arrangements that were required to serve the Member.

Page 82 of 101



 19 

(b) The Board of Directors hereby authorizes the Agency’s President and his
or her designees to carry out the Agency’s responsibilities as set forth in
this Contract and to provide support for the activities of the AR Project
Committee, subject to limitations on the President’s authority as may be
adopted from time to time in policies approved by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 9.  Meter Readings and Payment of Bills

(a) The  Agency  shall  read  meters  or  cause  meters  to  be  read  at  monthly
intervals which coincide with the billing period established by the Board
of Directors in accordance with the Rate Schedule.

(b) The Member shall pay for electric power and energy furnished hereunder
by electronic transfer to a bank account designated from time to time by
the Agency within 15 days of receipt of the bill; provided, however, that if
said 15th day is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday in the Commonwealth
of Kentucky, the next following business day shall be the day on which s
uch payment shall be due.    In  the event  that  the Member  fails  to make
payment when due of any amount owing hereunder, the Agency may imp
ose a latepayment charge as provided in the Rate Schedule.  The Agency
shall bill the Member on a prompt and timely basis in accordance with a s
chedule to be determined by the Agency.  The Agency may, whenever any
amount due remains unpaid after the due date, take all steps available to it
under  this Contract or  applicable  law  to collect  such amount and,  after
giving 15 days’ advance notice in writing of its intention to do so, disconti
nue service hereunder to the extent permitted by law.

(c) In the event the Member desires to dispute all or any part of a bill, the Me
mber shall nevertheless pay the full amount of the bill when due and notify
the Agency in writing of the grounds on which any charges in the bill are
disputed and the amount in dispute.  The Member will not be entitled to
any adjustment on account of any disputed charges which are not brought
to  the  attention  of  the  Agency  in  the  manner  herein  specified.    Such
adjustment shall be for the time period for which it can be established a
billing error took place but in no event shall the adjustment period extend
past 365 days or, in the event of meter errors, the date of the most recent
meter test.

SECTION 10.  Metering

(a) The Agency shall furnish, install, and maintain, or cause to be furnished,
installed,  and  maintained,  the  necessary  revenuequality  metering  and
associated  equipment  required  at  each  Point  of  Measurement  of  the
Member to measure and record the electric power and energy furnished
hereunder at such Point of Measurement and to communicate the realtime
metering data to the Agency on a continuous basis.  The Agency will own
the  metering  and  associated  equipment  and  will  assess  the  cost  of
furnishing  and  installing  the  necessary  metering  and  equipment  to  the

Page 83 of 101



 20 

Member.  Such metering equipment shall provide a continuous record of
the integrated total demand of the Member at such Point of Measurement
during  each  billing period  throughout  the Service Term.    Such  records
shall  be  available  at  all  reasonable  times  to  authorized  agents  of  the
Member.  The Member may, at its own cost, install additional metering
equipment  to  provide  a  check on  the Agency's metering  equipment,  so
long as  the Member's  additional metering equipment does not  interfere
with the functioning, operation, or maintenance of the Agency's metering.
All metering equipment  shall be maintained by  the  respective owner(s)
thereof.

(b) The Agency shall test and calibrate meters or cause meters to be tested and
calibrated by comparison with accurate standards at intervals of not less
than twelve (12) months.  The Agency shall also perform or cause to be
performed special meter tests at the Member's request.  The cost of all tests
shall  be  borne  by  the  Agency  except  that  if  any  special  meter  test
performed  at  the  Member's  request  shall  disclose  that  the  meters  are
recording accurately, the Member shall reimburse the Agency for the cost
of such test.  Meters registering within one percent (1%) of accuracy shall
be deemed to be accurate.  The readings for any meter that shall have been
disclosed by test to be inaccurate shall be corrected in accordance with the
percentage of inaccuracy found by such test from the beginning of the first
billing period which began after the next preceding meter test but in any
case for no period longer than 365 days.  Should any meter fail to register,
the electric power and energy delivered during such period of failure shall
for billing purposes be estimated by the Agency after consultation with the
Member from the best information available.  The Agency shall notify the
Member or cause the Member to be notified in advance of the time of any
meter test so that the Member's representative may be present at such mete
r test.

(c) For a fractional part of a billing period at the beginning or end of service,
demand charges under the Rate Schedule shall be proportionately adjusted
by the Agency in the ratio that the number of hours that electric service is
furnished to the Member (in such fractional billing period) bears to the tot
al number of hours in the billing period involved.  Except as provided in th
is Section 10(c) with respect to fractional billing periods at the beginning a
nd end of service, there shall be no proration of demand charges under the
Rate Schedule for any billing period during any part of which power is
made available to the Member.

SECTION 11.  Right of Access Accorded Each Party

The Member shall permit duly authorized representatives and employees of the Agency to
enter  upon  its  premises  for  the  purpose  of  reading  or  checking  meters,  inspecting,  testing,
repairing, renewing, or exchanging any or all of the equipment owned by the Agency located on
such premises, or for the purpose of performing any other work necessary in the performance of
this Contract.    The Member  shall  have  a  similar  right  of  access with  respect  to  the Agency’s

Page 84 of 101



 21 

premises.

SECTION 12.  Default and Remedies

(a) It shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Contract if any one or
more of the following occurs and the corresponding cure period, if any,
has expired without cure:

(i) The Member fails to make any payment required pursuant to this
Contract  and  such  failure  continues  for  a  period  of  ten  (10)  days  after
delivery of notice thereof by the Agency.

(ii) The  Member  fails  in  any  material  respect  to  comply  with  or
observe any material covenant, warrant, or obligation under this Contract
(except a payment default as described in Section 12(a)(i), and except a
failure due to causes excused by Uncontrollable Forces or attributable to
the Agency’s wrongful  act  or wrongful  failure  to  act)  and  such  failure
continues for a period of thirty (30) days after delivery of notice thereof by
the Agency, or, if such failure cannot reasonably be cured within such 30
day period, such further period as shall reasonably be required to effect
such cure, provided  that  the Member commences within  the  first  thirty
(30) days to effect such cure and at all times thereafter proceeds diligently
to complete such cure as quickly as possible, but in no event shall such
failure continue longer than one hundred twenty (120) days.

(iii) The  Agency  fails  in  any  material  respect  to  comply  with  or
observe any material covenant, warrant, or obligation under this Contract
(except  a  failure  due  to  causes  excused  by  Uncontrollable  Forces  or
attributable to the Member’s wrongful act or wrongful failure to act) and
such  failure  continues  for  a  period of  thirty  (30)  days  after  delivery of
notice  thereof  by  the Member,  or,  if  such  failure  cannot  reasonably  be
cured within such 30day period, such further period as shall reasonably
be  required  to  effect  such  cure,  provided  that  the  Agency  commences
within  the  first  thirty  (30)  days  to  effect  such  cure  and  at  all  times
thereafter proceeds diligently to complete such cure as quickly as possible,
but in no event shall such failure continue longer than one hundred twenty
(120) days.

(iv) A Party becomes insolvent, or generally does not pay its debts as
they  become due;  or  admits  in writing  its  inability  to  pay  its  debts;  or
makes  an  assignment  for  the  benefit  of  creditors;  or  insolvency,
reorganization, bankruptcy, or receivership proceedings are commenced
by or against a Party and such proceedings are not dismissed or stayed
within sixty (60) days.

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the nondefaulting Party may
at its option terminate this Contract by giving twentyone (21) days’ prior

Page 85 of 101



 22 

notice thereof (or, in the case of a payment default as described in Section
12(a)(i), five (5) days’ prior notice thereof) to the defaulting Party.

(c) Upon the effective date of termination, this Contract shall be of no further
effect,  and  neither  Party  shall  have  any  further  obligation  to  the  other
under  this  Contract  except  for  the  payment  of  any  amounts  due  for
services  provided  prior  to  cancellation,  and  except  as  set  forth  in  this
Section 12 and Section 32.

(d) After  the  effective  date  of  termination  of  this  Contract,  regardless  of
whether terminated under Section 2 or this Section 12, the Member shall
be  required  to  fulfill  all  Resource  Obligations  in  accordance  with  this
Section  12.    Commencing  on  the  effective  date  of  termination,  (i)  the
Member shall pay to the Agency monthly charges designed to recover the
costs  incurred  by  the  Agency  associated  with  each  of  the  Member’s
Resource  Obligations,  including  reasonable  and  customary  charges
relating to the administration of the associated Attributes or entitlement,
and (ii) the Agency shall utilize or sell the Member’s allocated share of the
Attributes  or  entitlement  associated  with  each  Resource  Obligation  in
exchange  for providing  the Member a credit or offset equal  to  the cost
avoided or revenue received by the Agency from the respective utilization
or sale of such Attributes or entitlement up to the amount of the charges to
the Member for that Resource Obligation.  If requested by the Agency, the
Member  shall promptly provide  to  the Agency and maintain a  letter of
credit  or  other  form  of  security  in  an  amount  sufficient  to  fulfill  the
Member’s Resource Obligations and in a form satisfactory to the Agency
as security for the Member’s payment of the monthly charges related to its
Resource Obligations.   The Member’s  responsibility  for  each Resource
Obligation shall continue until  the earliest of  (1)  the date on which  the
associated  Agency  Obligation  expires;  (2)  the  effective  date  of
arrangements  between  the  Agency  and  one  or  more  other  Agency
members  pursuant  to  which  such  other  member(s)  voluntarily  (and,  if
applicable, collectively) accept the transfer of the Resource Obligation; or
(3) the effective date on which the Agency, acting in its sole discretion,
has otherwise fully satisfied or terminated the Member’s allocable share
of  the  associated  Agency  Obligation  and  has  been  reimbursed  by  the
Member for all costs incurred in achieving such satisfaction or termination
of the Member’s allocable share.

(e) For the convenience of the Parties and to provide information to the All
Requirements  Members  concerning  potential  future  Resource
Obligations,  the  Parties  shall  maintain  in  Schedule  B  a  Resource
Obligation Table  identifying Agency Obligations that, as of  the time of
preparing or updating the Table, are expected to remain in effect for a time
period  longer  than  the notice of  termination period specified  in Section
2(a).   Updates  to  the Resource Obligation Table  shall be made at  least
annually to reflect current Agency Obligations of such duration and shall

Page 86 of 101



 23 

be  approved  by  vote  of  the  All  Requirements  Project  Committee.
Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  any  omission  from  the  Resource
Obligation  Table  of  an  Agency  Obligation  that  extends  beyond  the
effective date of termination of this Contract shall not relieve the Member
of its Resource Obligation associated with that Agency Obligation.  The
allocation to determine each of the Member’s Resource Obligations as a
share  of  the  respective  associated  Agency  Obligations  will  be  the
Member’s  monthly  billing  demands  under  the  Rate  Schedule  as  a
percentage of the total monthly billing demands of the All Requirements
Members (excluding those of any All Requirements Member that does not
share  in  the  costs  of  the  resource  from  which  the  Agency  Obligation
derives) during the twelve consecutive full calendar months immediately
preceding  the  month  in  which  the  effective  date  of  termination  falls,
provided,  however,  that  if  the Member’s  share  of  a  particular  Agency
Obligation  has  been  established  on  a  different  basis,  such  as  in  a
Generation  Resource  Project  Participation  Agreement  or  a  specific
allocation for a particular resource pursuant to Section 3(f), the allocation
for  each  such  Agency  Obligation  shall  be  the  Member’s  share  as  so
established.

(f) In  the  event  of  termination  of  this Contract  upon  the  occurrence  of  an
Event  of  Default,  the  nondefaulting  Party  shall  have  the  right  to  seek
remedies  at  law  or  in  equity  or  damages  for  the  breach  of  any  term,
condition, covenant, warranty or obligation under this Contract.

SECTION 13.  Uncontrollable Force

Neither the Agency nor the Member shall be considered to be in default in respect to any
obligation hereunder (other than the obligation of the Member to pay for electric power and energy
made available hereunder to the extent payment is required by Section 5(a) hereof) if prevented
from  fulfilling  such obligations by  reason of  an Uncontrollable Force.   The Party  claiming an
Uncontrollable  Force  shall  give  notice  and  reasonable  details  of  any  potential  or  actual
Uncontrollable Force to the other Party as soon as is reasonably practicable, shall provide regularly
updated information as to the anticipated occurrence or duration of the Uncontrollable Force, and
shall provide prompt notice when it is able to resume performance of those obligations that were
affected  as  a  result  of  the  Uncontrollable  Force.    Either  Party  rendered  unable  to  fulfill  any
obligation  by  reason  of  an  Uncontrollable  Force  shall  exercise  due  diligence  to  remove  such
inability with all reasonable dispatch.

SECTION 14.  Cooperation

(a) The Member and the Agency shall cooperate with each other and with the
other All Requirements Members to fulfill the objectives of this Contract.

(b) If it becomes necessary by reason of any emergency or extraordinary condi
tion for either the Agency or the Member to request the other Party to furni
sh personnel, materials, tools, or equipment for the accomplishment of its

Page 87 of 101



 24 

obligations hereunder, the Party so requested shall cooperate with the requ
esting Party and render such assistance as the Party so requested may dete
rmine  to  be  available.    The  Party making  such  request,  upon  receipt  of
properly itemized bills from the other Party, shall promptly reimburse the ot
her Party for all costs properly and reasonably incurred by it in providing
such assistance.  The cost shall include an amount not to exceed ten percent
(10%) for administrative and general expenses; such costs are to be determi
ned on the basis of current charges or rates used in its own operations by the
Party rendering the assistance.

SECTION 15.  Construction, Operation and Maintenance Standards

The Member shall own, install, and maintain electrical protective relaying equipment at ea
ch point of interconnection with the Transmission Provider’s transmission system.  The design and
operating characteristics of such equipment shall be coordinated with the Agency and subject to t
he Agency's approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

SECTION 16.  All Requirements Project

(a) The Board  of Directors  shall  designate  and  authorize by  resolution  the
establishment  of  an  All  Requirements  Project  pursuant  to  Article  II,
Section  4  of  the  Interlocal  Cooperation  Agreement  for  the  purposes,
among others, of planning, developing, and implementing a portfolio of
power  supply  resources  to  serve  all  the  electric  power  and  energy
requirements  of  the  All  Requirements  Members,  and  of  acquiring
transmission,  scheduling, dispatching, marketing, and all other  types of
purchases  or  services  necessary  or  useful  to  integrate  and  deliver  all
resources  used  to  supply  the  requirements  of  the  All  Requirements
Members.  The participants in the All Requirements Project shall be the
All Requirements Members.

(b) An All Requirements Project Committee shall be established and conduct
its  activities  in  accordance with Article  III,  Section  4  of  the  Interlocal
Cooperation Agreement and Article V of the Agency’s Bylaws.

(c) Each AR Project Committee member shall have one unweighted vote and
shall have the same number of weighted votes as its Agency member has
on the Board of Directors as provided in the Agency’s Bylaws.  Matters
submitted  to  a  vote  of  the AR  Project  Committee  shall  be  decided  by
majority  unweighted  vote  of  the members  present,  provided,  however,
that any AR Project Committee member voting in the minority shall have
the right to call for reconsideration based on a weighted vote.   The AR
Project Committee shall adopt from time to time the threshold of weighted
votes  required  to  grant  reconsideration,  which  shall  have  the  effect  of
vacating the original per capita vote, provided, however, that the threshold
number of weighted votes required for reconsideration to be granted must
at all times be high enough that no single AR Project Committee member
has enough weighted votes to carry the vote by itself.  In the event that the

Page 88 of 101



 25 

Member causes an Event of Default, the Member shall not be entitled to
vote on the AR Project Committee while that Event of Default continues
to exist.

(d) In the event that all of the Agency’s members become All Requirements
Members, the AR Project Committee may determine that the AR Project
and  AR  Project  Committee  are  no  longer  needed  and  should  be
terminated.  In that event, the functions and authority of the AR Project
Committee shall  thereafter be performed and exercised by the Board of
Directors,  and  the AR Project  shall be  terminated,  subject, however,  to
compliance with  all  requirements,  and  fulfillment  or  assumption  of  all
obligations, of the All Requirements Project.

SECTION 17.  Assignment of Contract

(a) This Contract shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the
respective successors and assigns of the Parties to this Contract; provided,
however,  that,  except  for  the  assignment  by  the Agency  authorized  by
clause (b) of this Section 17 and except for any assignment in connection
with  the sale,  lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of  the
Member's electric system as provided in Section 7(c) hereof, neither this
Contract nor any interest herein shall be transferred or assigned by either
Party except with the consent in writing of the other Party, which the Party
may grant or deny in its sole discretion.  Except for the assignment by the
Agency authorized by clause (b) of this Section 17, the Party seeking to
assign this Contract must provide at least ninety (90) days’ prior written
notice to the other Party.  No assignment or transfer of this Contract shall
relieve the Parties of any obligation hereunder.

(b) The Member acknowledges and agrees that the Agency may assign and
pledge  to  any  trustee  or  similar  fiduciary  designated  in  any  Bond
Resolution all of, or any interest in, its right, title and interest in and to all
payments to be made to the Agency under the provisions of this Contract
as  security  for  the  payment  of  the  principal  (including  sinking  fund
installments)  of,  premium,  if  any,  and  interest  on  any Bonds  and may
deliver possession of this Contract to such trustee in connection therewith,
and, upon such assignment, pledge and delivery, the Agency may grant to
such trustee any rights and remedies herein provided to the Agency and
thereupon any reference herein to the Agency shall be deemed, with the
necessary changes in detail, to include such trustee which shall be a third
party beneficiary of the covenants and agreements of the Member herein
contained.  Upon any such assignment, pledge and delivery, such trustee
shall  fulfill  all  of  the  obligations  with  respect  to  the Member  that  the
Agency was required to fulfill prior to such assignment, pledge and delive
ry.

SECTION 18.  Records and Accounts

Page 89 of 101



 26 

The Agency shall keep accurate records and accounts of its properties and its operations in
accordance with or so as to permit conversion to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission U
niform System of Accounts prescribed for Class A and Class B Public Utilities and Licensees as in
effect from time to time.  Should the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission be modified or cease
to exist, the records shall be maintained under the Uniform System of Accounts as adopted or used
by whatever agency succeeds or takes over the duties of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commiss
ion.  The Member shall have the right at any reasonable time to examine such accounts.  The Age
ncy shall cause such accounts to be audited annually by a firm of independent public accountants
of national reputation and shall supply copies of such audits to the Member.

SECTION 19.  Information

The Agency and the Member will promptly furnish to each other such information as may
be reasonably requested from time to time in order to carry out more effectively the intent and
purpose of this Contract or as may be reasonably necessary and convenient in the conduct of the op
erations of the Party requesting such information or as may be required by law.  Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Member shall, upon request, furnish to the Agency all such
information, certificates, engineering reports, feasibility reports, information relating to load forec
asts  and  generation  and  transmission  expansion  plans,  audited  financial  statements,  financial
audits, opinions of counsel (including the opinion required by Section 22 hereof), official stateme
nts and other documents as shall be reasonably necessary in connection with financings of the Age
ncy and maintaining the creditworthiness of the Agency.

SECTION 20.  No Adverse Distinction

The Agency agrees that there shall be no pattern of adverse distinction and no pattern of un
due discrimination in carrying out its obligations under this Contract relating to the Member as
compared to other All Requirements Members; provided, however, that differences in treatment
among All Requirements Members under the All Requirements Power Sales Contracts based upon
variances in cost of service shall not be considered a pattern of adverse distinction or a pattern of u
ndue discrimination for purposes of this Section.

SECTION 21.  Amendment and Uniformity of Contracts

(a) Except as provided for expressly herein (including Section 21(c)), neither
this  Contract  nor  any  terms  hereof  may  be  terminated,  amended,
supplemented,  waived  or  modified  except  by  an  instrument  in  writing
executed by each Party to this Contract.

(b) This Contract shall not be amended, modified, or otherwise changed by
agreement of the Parties in any manner that will materially and adversely
affect repayment, the taxexempt status, or debt rating of any Bonds, or
the security afforded by the provisions of this Contract for the payment of
any  of  the  Agency’s  obligations  under  the  All  Requirements  Power
Supply Contracts,  so  long  as  any  such  obligations  are  outstanding  and
unpaid, unless sufficient funds are set aside for the payment or retirement
thereof.

Page 90 of 101



 27 

(c) In order to preserve the uniformity of the All Requirements Power Supply
Contracts,  the  Member  agrees  that  this  Contract  may  be  amended  to
conform  to  the  terms  of  the  other  All  Requirements  Power  Supply
Contracts in the event that the amendment is approved by (i) the Board of
Directors,  (ii)  a  twothirds  majority  of  unweighted  votes  of  the  All
Requirements  Project  Committee,  and  (iii)  a  simple majority weighted
vote of the All Requirements Project Committee; provided, however, that
no change shall be made to the length of notice of termination specified in
Section 2(a) without the consent of the Member.

SECTION 22.  Opinion and Certificate as to Validity

Upon request from time to time by the Agency, the Member shall furnish the Agency, in
form and substance satisfactory to the Agency, with (i) an opinion of the Member’s attorney or an
attorney employed by the Member, and (ii) a certificate from the Member as to each of Sections
22(a) through 22(g) below.

(a) The Member is a municipal corporation or municipal utility duly created
and  validly  existing  pursuant  to  the  laws  of  the  Commonwealth  of
Kentucky.

(b) The Member has full legal right and authority to enter into this Contract
and to carry out its obligations hereunder.

(c) The Governing Body duly approved this Contract and its execution and
delivery on behalf of the Member by ordinance or resolution duly and l
awfully adopted at a meeting or meetings duly called and held at which qu
orums were present and acting throughout and such meeting or meetings
were called pursuant to necessary public notice.

(d) This Contract has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the a
ppropriate officers of the Member; and, assuming that the Agency has all
the requisite power and authority to execute and deliver, and has duly auth
orized, executed, and delivered, this Contract, this Contract constitutes the
legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Member in accordance with its t
erms subject, however, to the effect of, and to restrictions and limitations i
mposed by or resulting from, bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorga
nization, or other  similar  laws  affecting creditors'  rights generally.   No
opinion need be rendered as to the availability of any particular remedy.

(e) The execution and delivery of this Contract by the Member, the performan
ce by the Member of its obligations hereunder and the consummation of th
e transactions contemplated herein do not and will not contravene any exis
ting law or any existing order, injunction, judgment, decree, rule, or regu
lation of any court or administrative agency having jurisdiction over the M
ember or its property or result in a breach or violation of any of the terms a
nd provisions of, or constitute a default under, any existing bond ordinanc
e, trust agreement, indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, or other agreement t
o which the Member is a party or by which it or its property is bound.

Page 91 of 101



 28 

(f) All  approvals,  consents,  or  authorizations  of,  or  registrations  or  filings
with, any governmental or public agency, authority, or person required on
the part of  the Member  in connection with  the execution, delivery, and
performance of this Contract have been obtained or made.

(g) To the knowledge of such attorney or firm of attorneys and of the Member
after due  inquiry,  there  is no  litigation or other proceedings pending or
threatened in any court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction (either
state or federal) questioning the creation, organization, or existence of the
Member or the validity, legality, or enforceability of this Contract.

SECTION 23.  Relationship to and Compliance with Other 
Instruments

It is recognized by the Parties that the Agency must comply with the requirements of (i)
power  purchase  agreements  for All  Requirements  Power  Supply Resources,  (ii) Open Access
Transmission  Tariffs  under  which  transmission  service  may  be  arranged  for  the  delivery  of
Attributes  from  All  Requirements  Power  Supply  Resources,  (iii)  any  agreements  concerning
MemberOwned Resources entered into pursuant to Section 3(d), (iv) any Generation Resource
Project Participation Agreement, (v) any other agreement between the Agency and a third party
related to services the Agency provides under this Contract, and (vi) the Interlocal Cooperation
Agreement.    It  is  further  recognized  by  the  Parties  that,  in  undertaking,  or  causing  to  be
undertaken, the planning, financing, construction, acquisition, operation, and maintenance of the
System, the Agency must comply with the requirements of any Bond Resolution, any agreement
with  any  owner  or  coowner  of  or  participant  or  coparticipant  in  any  facility  included  in  the
System relating to the construction, operation, or maintenance thereof and all licenses, permits,
and  regulatory  approvals  necessary  for  such  planning,  financing,  construction,  acquisition,
operation, and maintenance, and  it  is  therefore agreed  that  this Contract  is made subject  to  the
terms and provisions of any Bond Resolution, any such agreement or tariffs, and all such licenses,
permits, and regulatory approvals.

SECTION 24.  Indemnification and Liability

(a) The Agency and the Member shall defend and hold each other harmless
from any and all claims, liability, and expense, including attorneys' fees,
litigation expenses, and any judgment arising out of any bodily injury, de
ath, or damage to property (other than bodily injury, death, or damage to p
roperty proximately caused by the other Party or its servants or employ
ees), occurring on their respective properties, including such injury, death,
or damage as may be suffered by the Agency or the Member or by third pa
rties, except that the Agency and the Member shall each be responsible for
all claims of its respective employees, agents, and servants under workm
en's compensation laws or any similar statutes.  In no event shall either the
Agency or the Member be liable to each other for any indirect, special,
incidental, or consequential damages with respect to any claim arising out
of  this  Contract  whether  based  on  contract,  tort,  strict  liability,  or
otherwise.

Page 92 of 101



 29 

(b) The Member acknowledges that (i) effective performance by the Agency
of  its  obligations  under  this  Contract  will  require  exercise  of  business
judgment by Agency officers, directors, personnel, and consultants on the
basis of  information available to  them, and (ii) while  the Agency’s aim
will be to enhance value and reduce risk to the Member and the other All
Requirements Members, it is not reasonable to expect that value will be
ideally maximized or that risk will be fully eliminated.  In no event shall a
claim  of  breach  or  Event  of  Default  by  the  Agency  be  based  on  the
dissatisfaction  of  one  or more  of  the All  Requirements Members with
transactions  arranged  or  entered  into  by  the  Agency  pursuant  to  this
Contract, or with the nature or level of savings, costs, or risks associated
therewith, absent a showing of gross negligence or willful misconduct by
the Agency.   The  sole  remedy  available  to  the Member  or  another All
Requirements Member  that  is  dissatisfied with  the Agency’s  ability  to
achieve  the Agency’s  goals  is  to  terminate  this Contract  in  accordance
with Section 2.

SECTION 25.  Dispute Resolution

(a) Any dispute, claim, or controversy between the Parties arising out of this
Contract  (each  a  “Dispute”)  shall  be  resolved  in  accordance  with  the
procedures set forth in this Section 25.

(b) In the event of a Dispute, either Party to the Dispute shall provide written
notice, including a description of the nature of the Dispute, to the other
Party and to the other All Requirements Members.

(c) Promptly after delivery of notice of a Dispute, the Parties’ representatives
shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the Dispute.  If the Dispute is not
resolved within  fifteen  (15) days  after  receipt of  the notice,  each Party
shall have  seven  (7) days  to  appoint  a  senior  executive or official who
shall  meet  and  negotiate  in  good  faith  with  the  other  Party’s  senior
executive or official to resolve the Dispute.

(d) Good faith mediation shall be a condition precedent to the filing of any
litigation in law or equity by either Party relating to this Contract except
injunctive litigation to the limited extent necessary to mitigate or cure an
imminent threat to public or employee safety.  Before the further remedies
provided for in this Section 25 may be exercised by either Party, the Party
perceiving itself to be aggrieved shall initiate mediation by giving written
notice  to  the other Party  in sufficient detail  that  the other Party will be
fully advised of the circumstances underlying the Dispute and the basis for
the  Party’s  claim.    The  responding  Party  shall  deliver  to  the  initiating
Party a written response within ten (10) business days of receipt of such
notice.

Page 93 of 101



 30 

(e) The  Parties  shall  attempt  to  resolve  the  Dispute  by  engaging  a  single
mediator, experienced in the subject matter, to mediate the Dispute.  The
mediator shall be mutually selected by the Parties and conduct mediation
at  a  location  to  be  agreed  upon  by  the  Parties  or,  absent  agreement,
designated by the mediator.  Within two (2) business days of selection, the
Parties shall provide to the mediator a copy of the notice, response, this
Contract,  and  any  other  documents  exchanged  by  the  Parties.    If  the
Parties and the mediator are unable to settle the Dispute within thirty (30)
days from selection, or such other time as the Parties agree, the mediator
shall make a written recommendation as to the resolution of the Dispute.
Should  the  Parties  be  unable  to  agree  on  a  mediator  within  ten  (10)
business days of the written response of the responding Party, either Party
or the Parties jointly shall petition the Presiding Judge of a court of general
jurisdiction over the Parties and the matters at issue and in which venue is
proper,  to  appoint  a  mediator,  experienced  and  knowledgeable  in  the
subject matter of the Dispute.  The costs of the mediator shall be shared
equally by the Parties to the dispute. If the Parties are unable to agree on a
mediator and no court has appointed a mediator within a reasonable time,
the obligation to mediate shall be deemed fulfilled.

(f) In  any  litigation,  a  Party  that  had  refused  to  accept  the  mediator’s
recommendation  for  resolving  the Dispute  shall  be  liable  for  the  other
Party’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in litigating the
Dispute,  not  to  exceed  $10,000,  unless  the  result  of  such  litigation
materially  improves  such  Party’s  position  as  compared  to  the
recommended resolution.  For purposes of this Section 25(f), “materially
improve” shall mean, with regard to compensation or liability, twentyfive
percent  (25%)  or  greater  improvement.    All  determinations  under  this
Section 25(f) shall be decided in the sole discretion of the tribunal before
whom the litigation was resolved, and the record of the mediation and the
mediator’s  recommendation  shall  be  admissible  for  such  purposes  and
only for such purposes following the conclusion of the litigation.

(g) The Parties may agree to waive mediation.  If no resolution of the Dispute
is  achieved  through  mediation,  each  Party  may  pursue  litigation  as  it
chooses.  If the Parties agree on further dispute resolution procedures they
wish to follow, such as binding arbitration, nothing in this Section 25 shall
prevent them from doing so.

(h) Nothing  in  this  Section  25  shall  be  construed  to  affect  jurisdiction  or
venue over any Dispute that is otherwise appropriate under law.

(i) EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY,
AND  INTENTIONALLY  WAIVES,  TO  THE  FULLEST  EXTENT
PERMITTED  BY  LAW,  AND  AFTER  HAVING  CONSULTED  OR
HAVING  HAD  AMPLE  OPPORTUNITY  TO  CONSULT  THEIR
RESPECTIVE  LEGAL  COUNSEL  CONCERNING  THE

Page 94 of 101



 31 

CONSEQUENCES  OF  SUCH  WAIVER,  TRIAL  BY  JURY  IN  ANY
ACTION  OR  OTHER  PROCEEDING  BROUGHT  TO  ENFORCE  OR
DEFEND  AGAINST  ANY  MATTER  ARISING  OUT  OF  OR  IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS CONTRACT.

SECTION 26.  Applicable Law

This  Contract  shall  be  governed  by  and  construed  in  accordance with  the  laws  of  the
Commonwealth of Kentucky.

SECTION 27.  Consent to Jurisdiction and Venue

The Agency and the Member hereby consent to the jurisdiction of any state or federal court
located  within  the  County  of  Franklin,  Commonwealth  of  Kentucky,  and  each  waives  any
objection it may have based on improper venue or forum non conveniens to the conduct of any
proceeding in any such court.

SECTION 28.  Waiver of Immunity

The Member agrees that with respect to obligations under this Contract and performance
thereof, it will not claim immunity, on the grounds of its status as a municipality, from: (i) suit, (ii)
jurisdiction of court (including a court located outside the jurisdiction of the municipality), (iii)
relief  by  way  of  injunction,  order  for  specific  performance,  or  recovery  of  property,  (iv)
attachment of assets, or (v) execution or enforcement of any judgment.

SECTION 29.  Notices

All notices, invoices, consents, waivers, and other communications required or permitted
hereby shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given when (i) delivered to the other
Party’s  address  personally,  by  facsimile,  by  messenger,  by  a  nationally  or  internationally
recognized overnight delivery service, or otherwise, or (ii) received or rejected by the other Party,
if sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, in each case, addressed to the other Party at its
address, marked  to  the  attention  of  the  person  designated  below.    In  addition,  notice  shall  be
provided by email to the other Party’s email address designated below.

If to the Agency:

Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency
Attn:  Doug Buresh
1700 Eastpoint Parkway, Suite 220
Louisville, Kentucky 40223
Email:  dburesh@kymea.org

If to the Member:

City of Berea, Kentucky
Attn:  Kevin Howard
212 Chestnut Street

Page 95 of 101



 32 

Berea, Kentucky 40403
Email:  khoward@bereaky.gov

The foregoing names and addresses may be changed by similar written notice at any time.

SECTION 30.  Waivers

(a) Any waiver at any time by either Party hereto of its rights with respect to a
default or any matter arising in connection with this Contract shall not be
deemed to be a waiver with respect to any subsequent default or matter.

(b) The failure of either Party hereto to enforce at any time any of the provisi
ons of this Contract or to require at any time performance by the other Part
y hereto of any of the provisions hereof shall in no way be construed to be
a waiver of such provisions nor in any way to affect the validity of this
Contract or  the right of such Party  thereafter  to enforce each and every
provision hereof.

SECTION 31.  Severability

In  the  event  that  any  of  the  terms,  covenants,  or  conditions  of  this  Contract,  or  the
application of any such  term, covenant, or condition,  shall be held  invalid as  to any person or
circumstance  by  any  court  having  jurisdiction  under  the  circumstances,  the  remainder  of  this
Contract  and  the  application  of  its  terms,  covenants,  or  conditions  to  such  persons  or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

SECTION 32.  Survival of Obligations

The termination of this Contract shall not discharge either Party thereto from any obligatio
n it owes to the other Party under this Contract by reason of any transaction, loss, cost, damage,
expense, or liability which shall occur or arise (or the circumstances, events, or basis of which shall
occur or arise) prior to such termination.  It is the intent of the Parties hereby that any such obligati
on owed (whether the same shall be known or unknown at the termination of this Contract or whe
ther the circumstances, events, or basis of the same shall be known or unknown at the termination o
f  this  Contract)  shall  survive  the  termination  of  this  Contract.    Cancellation,  expiration,  or
termination of this Contract shall not relieve the Parties of obligations that expressly survive or by
their nature should survive such cancellation, expiration, or termination, including Sections 5, 7,
10(c), 12, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, and 33.

SECTION 33.  Entire Agreement

This Contract supersedes all previous representations, understandings, negotiations, and
agreements, either written or oral, between the Parties or their representatives with respect to the
subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof.

SECTION 34.  No Third Party Beneficiaries

Page 96 of 101



 33 

This Contract is intended solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto.  Except as provided in
Section 17(b), nothing in this Contract shall be construed to create any duty to, or standard of care
with reference to, or any liability to, any person not a Party to this Contract.

SECTION 35.  Incorporation of Schedules

Schedules to this Contract are an integral part of the Contract and are incorporated herein
as if set forth herein in their entirety.

SECTION 36.  Counterparts

This Contract may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF,  each  of  the  Parties  hereto  has  caused  this  Contract  to  be
executed by its duly authorized official, officer, or representative and its seal to be hereto affixed,
if required, effective as of the day, month and year first above written.

KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY

By: __________________________________
Doug Buresh, President and CEO

ATTEST:

___________________________________
Heather R. Overby, VP of Finance and
  Accounting and CFO

CITY OF BEREA, KENTUCKY

By: __________________________________
Bruce Fraley, Mayor

ATTEST:

___________________________________
Robin Adams, City Clerk

Page 97 of 101



 34 

Page 98 of 101



SCHEDULE A

KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY
SERVICE SPECIFICATIONS

MEMBER: City of Berea, Kentucky

1. Applicability.  These service specifications are applicable to the All Requirements Power
Sales  Contract  covering  the  supply  and  delivery  of  electric  power  and  energy  by  the
Agency to the City of Berea, Kentucky (“Member”).

2. Points of Delivery.  The Agency is obligated to deliver electric power and energy contra
cted for by the Member at the following points and voltages:

Delivery Point
Identity and
Location

Delivery 
Voltage

BEREA 2 (Oak Street)
Delivery Point ID: ______

BEREA NORTH (Rash Road)
Delivery Point ID: ______

69 kV

69 kV

3. Points of Measurement.  The Agency shall meter electric power and energy delivered to t
he Member as follows:

Metering Point
Identity and
Location

Delivery 
Voltage

BEREA 2 (Oak Street)
Delivery Point ID: ____

BEREA NORTH (Rash Road)
Delivery Point ID: _____

69 kV

69 kV

4. Power Factor.  The Member shall maintain its system leading and lagging power factor in
compliance  with  any  requirements  in  the  Transmission  Provider’s  Open  Access
Transmission Tariff, as they may be amended from time to time.

Page 99 of 101



B1

SCHEDULE B

KENTUCKY MUNICIPAL ENERGY AGENCY
RESOURCE OBLIGATION TABLE

Updated as of August 31, 2021

Agency Obligation Contract Date Expiration Date

Big Rivers Electric Corporation July 13, 2016 May 31, 2029

Illinois Power Marketing Company July 13, 2016 May 31, 2022

Electric Plant Board of the City of Paducah, Kentucky d/b/a Paducah
Power System July 13, 2016 May 31, 2029

MISO PTP Transmission Service Agreement (CIN)
38MW Cayuga 83273142 July 14, 2016 May 1, 2027

MISO PTP Transmission Service Agreement (BREC)
62MW BREC 92345731 July 14, 2016 May 1, 2027

MISO PTP Transmission Service Agreement (BREC)
100MW BREC 83272613 July 14, 2016 May 1, 2029

Barbourville Utility Commission of the City Of Barbourville, 
Kentucky – SEPA March 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

Cities Utilities Commission of the City of Corbin, Kentucky – SEPA March 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

City of Falmouth, Kentucky – SEPA March 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

City of Paris, Kentucky – SEPA March 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

City of Providence, Kentucky – SEPA March 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

City of Madisonville, Kentucky – SEPA June 1, 2017 May 31, 2029

City of Bardwell, Kentucky  SEPA  February 1, 2018 May 31, 2029

Page 100 of 101



B2

Electric and Water Plant Board of the City of Frankfort, Kentucky  
SEPA  February 1, 2018 May 31, 2029

City of Paris, Kentucky – Seven Diesel Units February 1, 2018 May 31, 2029

Ashwood Solar I, LLC August 23, 2018 November 30, 2042

Duke Energy Indiana LLC June 1, 2022  May 31, 2027

MISO PTP Transmission Service Agreement (BREC Node 1)
15MW BREC 93013893 June 1, 2022 May 31, 2027

Page 101 of 101


	Cover Page
	Agenda
	Meeting Opening
	Attendance
	Call to Order
	Guest Introductions

	Previous Meeting Minutes of the KYMEA Board of Directors
	01252024 Board Meeting Minutes v1.docx

	Financial Reports
	Financial Presentation February 22 2024.pdf
	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Jan 2024.pdf

	Committee Reports
	Administration Reports
	CEO 
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_February_2024_CEO_02-22-2024.pdf

	Market Report
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_January_2024_Market_Report_02-22-2024 r1.pdf

	Member Communications
	KYMEA_Board_Presentation_February_2024_Member_Communications_02-22-2024.pdf


	Discussion Topics 
	Meter Data UPS Procedure
	KYMEA_UPS_Procedure.pdf


	Action Items
	City of Berea Municipal Utilities Request to Join AR Group
	Resolution 02-2024 KYMEA All Requirements Wholesale Electric Power Contract_signed.pdf
	Resolution 02-2024 Attachment_Certificate of Authenticity_signed.pdf
	AR Project Committee Resolution Recommending Berea as an AR Member.docx
	Resolution Relating to Berea AR Contract.docx
	KYMEA - Berea All Requirements Contract.docx


	Public Comments
	Upcoming Meetings and Other Business
	Closed Session
	Action Expected Related to Matters Discussed in Closed Session
	Adjournment 

